

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN NEUROSCIENZE

CICLO XXXVI

COORDINATORE Prof. ssa Maria Pia Amato

Non-invasive evaluation of brain activity with functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS): from normative population to Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare MED/39

Dottorando Dott.ssa Elena Scaffei **Tutore** Prof.ssa Roberta Battini

Ballur

Escopp

Coordinatore Prof.ssa Maria Pia Amato

Anni 2020/2023

Table of contents

ABST	RACT	4
1 INT	RODUCTION	6
1.1	BASIC PRINCIPLES OF FUNCTIONAL NEAR-INFRARED SPECTROSCOPY (FNIRS)	6
1.1.1	TECHNICAL PRINCIPLES	6
1.1.2	HEMODYNAMIC RESPONSE: VARIABILITY AND INTERPRETATION	9
1.1.3	METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	10
1.1.4	FNIRS COMPARED TO OTHER FUNCTIONAL NEUROIMAGING TECHNIQUES	12
1.1.5	EXPERIMENTAL PARADIGM	14
1.2	APPLICATION OF FNIRS IN COGNITIVE NEUROSCIENCE: FROM DEVELOPMENTAL A	GE
TO AD	ULT BRAIN	17
1.2.1	FNIRS STUDIES IN ADULT SUBJECTS	18
1.2.2	FNIRS STUDIES IN AGEING	20
1.2.3	FNIRS STUDIES IN NEONATES, INFANTS AND CHILDREN	22
1.3	APPLICATION OF FNIRS IN NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS	31
1.3.1	LANGUAGE IMPAIRMENT AND LEARNING DISABILITIES	32
1.3.2	AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD)	32
1.3.3	ATTENTION DEFICIT / HYPERACTIVITY DISORDER (ADHD)	34
<u>2 AIM</u>	1 OF THE THESIS	36
3 MA	TERTALS AND METHODS	28
31		20
3.1 /	APPARATUS AND MUNTAGES	20
3.2 9	SIGNAL PROCESSING AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	10
34 F	REST DRACTICES FOR ENTRS EXDEDIMENTAL BROCEDURE	40 /11
3.5 F	RECRUITMENT AND ETHICS STATEMENT	41
<u>4 RE</u>	SULTS	<u>43</u>
4.1	STANDARDIZING THE TECHNIQUE IN NORMATIVE POPULATIONS	43
4.1.1	FEASIBILITY AND VALIDITY OF FNIRS VISUAL HDR IN ADULTS AND CHILDREN WITH TYP	ICAL
DEVELO	DPMENT	43
4.1.2	ASSESSING TEST-RETEST RELIABILITY OF FNIRS VHDR PARADIGM	54
4.2	TESTING FEASIBILITY AND VALIDITY OF F NIRS VHDR AS A BRAIN BIOMARKER IN	1
NDDS		61
4.2.1	EXPLORING AUTISM SPECTRUM DISORDER (ASD) IN PRESCHOOLER FEMALES	61
4.2.2	RARE METABOLIC DISEASES: CREATINE TRANSPORTER DEFICIENCY (CTD) SYNDROME	67
<u>5 DI</u>	SCUSSION	71

6 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	78
ABBREVIATIONS	79
APPENDIX	81
REFERENCES	90
RINGRAZIAMENTI	111

Abstract

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) are neurological conditions affecting brain maturation and causing difficulties in social, cognitive and emotional functioning. Most NDDs are still without an effective treatment, with the lack of clinical biomarkers for monitoring brain function significantly hindering the development of the therapeutic pipeline. Many methodological constraints (mostly, related to the invasiveness of procedures and the need of subjects' compliance) prevent to shift neuroimaging protocols typically used in adults to NDDs populations, limiting functional neuroimaging research in this field. However, emerging evidence suggests that functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS) might be exploited to generate unbiased and reliable measures of developing brain in order to assist diagnosis and drug efficacy studies. Thus, this PhD project aimed to address the research gap in the field, evaluating feasibility, reliability and validity of fNIRS as a novel non-invasive biomarker to measure brain function in under investigated clinical populations of NDDs. To this purpose, a novel standardized fNIRS procedure to measure visual-evoked hemodynamic responses (vHDR) in the occipital cortex has been devised in normative adult population and optimized for children enriching it with high entertaining value. Moreover, test/retest reliability of vHDR metrics has been assessed in the adult population at three different timepoints, proving the robustness of this measure.

This innovative experimental paradigm established a quick and easy strategy for measuring vHDR with fNIRS that maximizes the compliance of young subjects, setting the background for testing its feasibility in clinical samples. Thus, the potential application of vHDR measurement was assessed in two cross-sectional studies comparing fNIRS signal in NDDs groups and control cohorts. A first study was conducted in autistic female (fASD) preschoolers and age-matched typically-developed girls. The aim of this activity was to clarify whether fNIRS could provide a biomarker that might support early clinical assessment of fASD, in parallel advancing the knowledge about phenotype's gender-specificity of this cohort. Then, starting from encouraging data on the preclinical mouse model, the sensitivity of technique was evaluated in a rare metabolic disease caused by genetic deficiency of creatine transporter (CTD), where the translational validation of the imaging biomarker might open the way to its use in drug efficacy trials. In both clinical samples the feasibility and validity of vHDR have been robustly assessed.

These results might expand the frontiers of fNIRS technique, pointing to the analysis of vHDR as a valuable tool for assessing brain function in both observational studies and clinical trials including NDDs patients.

1 Introduction

1.1 Basic principles of functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS)

1.1.1 Technical principles

Near Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS) is a non-invasive optical imaging technique that uses absorption of near-infrared light to quantify changes in concentration of specific chromophores. Since the biological tissue is relatively transparent at wavelengths belonging to the near-infrared light spectrum (approximately 600-900 nm), NIRS is able to provide a measurement of changes in the concentration of oxygenated (OHb), deoxygenated (DHb) and total (THb) hemoglobin, detecting the degree of attenuation of emitted light. These modifications reflect changing in local haemodynamics and oxygenation of several tissues including the brain (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010, van de Rijt et al., 2018). Thus, functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS) is capable of providing an indirect measurement of neuronal activity based on the hemodynamic changes in cortical structures, in line with the principle of neurovascular coupling: as a rule, in fact, brain activity leads to an increase in oxygen consumption, accompanied by an increase in cerebral blood flow (Logothetis et al., 2004). Neurovascular coupling typically induces an increase in THb and OHb concentration as well as a decrease in DHb concentration. This pattern of variations in Hb concentrations over time defines the Hemodynamic Response Function (HRF).

Physics principle of the technique is the modified Beer Lambert's law that highlights the correlation between the modifications of light attenuation and concentration of chromophores according to different and specific absorption coefficients (Strangman et al., 2002):

$$\Delta A = a \cdot \Delta c \cdot L \cdot DPF$$

where:

- A is the absorbance
- a is the molar attenuation coefficient or absorptivity of the attenuating species
- c is the concentration of the attenuating species
- L is the optical path length
- DPF is the Differential Pathlength Factor, factor dependent on the type of tissue and wavelength.

Over time, different models for measuring the hemodynamic response using NIRS have been proposed (Hielscher et al., 2002):

Continuous Wave (CW);

Time-Resolved (TR);

- Frequency-Resolved (FR).

To date, the CW technique appears to be more widely used than the others (Blasi et al., 2007). It involves the use of multiple source-detector pairs (channels), capable of providing a two-dimensional mapping of the cerebral hemodynamic response using a signal analysis technique known as "optical topography" (Watanabe et al., 1996). Each detector records the light signal coming from a small group of nearby sources: to identify the exact location of the source originating the signal, the software will then perform a single frequency intensity modulation. The arrays of multiple NIR sources and detectors enable a broad area of the cortical surface to be sampled with a minimal number of optical fibers, and a two-dimensional map of surface brain activity to be generated. To identify the source associated with a given detected signal it is necessary to either illuminate each source sequentially, or modulate each source at a unique frequency, and then distinguish the signals using lock-in amplifiers or a Fourier transform in software. Measurements on all detectors can be recorded at a rate of several Hz, enabling the time-course of the typical hemodynamic response to be adequately sampled. Nevertheless, the main limitation of CW technique is the difficulty to derive absolute values of chromophore concentrations due to a non-linear spatial distribution of NIR light into tissues.

To evaluate changes in chromophore concentration in non-arbitrary units, it is necessary to determine the average pathlength of the diffusely reflected light through the employ of a source of short (picosecond) laser pulses and a fast time-resolved detector. Thus, the TR technique offers the best spatial resolution, thanks to the measurement of the time of flight (TOF) of single photons (Davies et al., 2015). Unfortunately, TR systems require longer data acquisition times than CW systems to obtain a comparable signal to noise ratio (SNR).

Finally, the FR systems enable the average path length to be determined using an intensity-modulated source and a device that measures the phase delay of the transmitted signal (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2008). Such systems do not rely on photon counting, and therefore offer a greater SNR and dynamic range than time-domain methods. However, they provide less equivalent temporal information unless multiple frequencies are employed, and operate less efficiently at very low intensities. Many optical topography systems have been built based on both time-domain and frequency-domain technologies. However, their disadvantage compared to CW systems is their comparatively high cost and less efficient sampling rates (particularly for photon-counting systems).



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of signal recorded by fNIRS (modified from Dans et al., 2021); panel (a) corresponds to schematic representation of scalp placement of a fNIRS channel made by a source and a detector; panel (b) mathematically represents the Modified Beer-Lambert Law; in panel (c) typical pattern of HDR measured by fNIRS with an increase of OHb and THb and a deflection of DHb; nevertheless, non-canonical response are reported to in literature (for a detailed description see next paragraph).

1.1.2 Hemodynamic response: variability and interpretation

In addition to experimental models used (i.e CW, TR and FR techniques), fNIRS studies need to take into account also the variability of HRF over time and brain areas, especially in the developmental age.

The typical pattern of response to a stimulus – at least in the adult population – is characterized by an increase in OHb and THb with a parallel decrease in DHb, as previously discussed. However, numerous studies have demonstrated how the response pattern in children can differ from that of adults, highlighting in particular the lower relevance that DHb modifications have in childhood and thus considering the changes in OHb and THb as the most relevant analysis parameters (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010). It has been hypothesized that this deviation from the typical pattern may depend on age, the brain area under study and the experimental conditions (sleep/sedation or wakefulness), as well as on the physiological excess of superfluous synaptic connections in infancy (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010; Marcar et al., 2004). Moreover, fNIRS and fMRI studies show that the shape of the hemodynamic response changes with age in different brain areas (and perceptual or cognitive tasks): canonical (i.e., statistically significant increase in OHb and decrease in DHb as compared to baseline) and inverted (statistically significant decrease in OHb and increase in DHb as compared to baseline) responses have both been reported in the literature. Non-canonical responses, especially the "inverted response", are not straightforward to interpret (i.e., whether they are suggestive of vascular problems). The inverted response is often observed in newborns and infants younger than one year old and it could probably reflect a physiological process of brain maturation, gradually then normalizing to a more canonical shape. For example, infant fNIRS studies investigating auditory perception in the temporal cortex have demonstrated both inverted and canonical responses (Telkemeyer et al., 2009), while later in infancy, from 3 months onwards, infants' temporal cortex increasingly often shows a canonical response (Emberson et al., 2017). Indeed, the HRF relies on a complex interaction between the vascular system, neurons and glial cells, all of which undergo considerable maturation throughout infancy and childhood, possibly with significative topological differences between one brain area to another. Moreover, peak latency (i.e., time to reach the maximum of the HRF) has also been reported to decrease through infancy (Issard et Gervain, 2018). The HRF also varies with the tested sensory modality or cognitive function and their developmental stage, but also with the arousal level of the participants (i.e., asleep vs awake). Focusing on the HDR to social stimuli

(i.e., faces or infant-directed speech), typically investigated in the posterior temporoparietal region several studies have showed a wide range of response variability to the same stimuli with age. At 4 months of age, infants display a delayed but canonical response to social stimuli, and this response becomes faster during the first two years of life, but inverted responses have also been observed at similar ages in similar regions of interest (ROIs) (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2018). At 5–6 and 7–8 months, a series of different faces presented from different points of view evoked a canonical response, whereas a series of the same face presented from different points of view evoked an inverted response (Kobayashi et al., 2011).

Finally, the HRF seems to be further influenced by the complexity of the stimuli used and the experimental design (i.e., a repeated presentation of identical stimuli vs paradigm with alternate conditions), even within the same age or brain area. Indeed, effect in developmental psychology it is well known the of stimulus complexity/familiarity on infants' behavior, such as looking time, can considerably affect response trough a U-shaped function. Another relevant question is how different degrees of complexity or familiarity may change the type of processing mechanisms triggered. Each of these factors has a different impact on the hemodynamic response, and they interact with one another, justifying the importance of considering many variables when interpreting NIRS results, especially non-canonical ones.

1.1.3 Methodological considerations

While the first studies carried out with NIRS used a few channels (from 1 to 3), awareness has gradually been acquired of the advantages of using multiple channel instrumentation (covering whole brain), since capable of providing increasingly precise spatial localization of the recorded signal (van de Rijt et al., 2016). The increase in the number of channels involves, however, an increase in the size and weight of the headgear, sometimes generating movement artefacts – especially in children – linked to poor tolerance of the bulky instrumentation and high dropout rates compared with adults (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010). Indeed, in first reports the proportion of infants excluded in a NIRS study due to unsatisfactory data was approximately 40% (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010). The prerequisites for NIRS headgear for infant studies are that it must be comfortable, lightweight, easy to position in a very short space of time and must provide reliable continuous optical measurements from all channels. At practical level, a strong effort has been done for optimizing headgear design, in order to develop an efficient

and comfortable method by which to attach multiple source and detector optodes to the infant head. To date, several commercial fNIRS instrumentations are available with customized equipment tailored for developmental age (i.e. blunt tip optodes for newborns and infants) (Kassab et al., 2015).

An additional issue to consider for scalp-based technique such as fNIRS and EEG, is the lack of direct structural information: in order to spatially assess the cortical source of the measured signal, the correspondence between each scalp location and its underlying cortical surface must be established. In particular, two factors are critical in determining the sensitivity of each fNIRS channel to the underlying cortex:

- the location of sources and detectors;

- the distance between sources and detectors.

First, the placement of channels according to the 10-20 international reference system allows an effective correspondence to anatomical regions in the adult brain (Okamoto et al., 2004). Based on this scalp-anatomy correlation, several software tools have been developed to facilitate fNIRS researchers in designing the montage, based on the cortical regions of interest, i.e., FOLD software (Zimeo Morais et al., 2018) that defines optimal positions of optodes. Some studies systematically investigated the validity of correlation between external anatomical landmarks, conventionally the 10–20 sensor placement system and internal cerebral structures also in newborns, infants and children (Cai et al., 2021), sharing tailored template and atlases (Fu & Richards., 2021; Kabdebon et al., 2014).

Regarding the optimal distance between optodes, the depth reached by the photons is approximately half the separation between source and detector (Fukui et al., 2003): while short separations allow to sample the superficial layers right under the scalp (Emberson et al., 2016), such as skull and cerebrospinal-fluid, longer separations allow to probe deeper regions such as cortical regions of the brain, at the expense of reducing the SNR. Overall, for correct positioning of the optodes on the cranial surface it is necessary to consider that the separation between source and detector should be, at least, double the distance between the skin surface and the cortical surface. In the adult, therefore, the separation between the channels will be between 40 and 50 mm (Okada et al., 1997); in children or neonates – given the lower thickness and greater translucency of the surfaces – the distance may be limited to 20 – 30 mm (Cai et al., 2019). The optimal separation distance, however, varies based on the intensity of the light source, the age of the subject under study and the location of the cortical area of interest (Beauchamp et al., 2011). It's important to take into account that working with

subjects at early developmental stage (infants and children) needs practical considerations regarding methodological issues, significantly different from rules used on adults (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010), that will be discuss deeply in following paragraphs.

1.1.4 fNIRS compared to other functional neuroimaging techniques

Non-invasive assessment of human brain activity is a major challenge, especially in developmental age. This paragraph aims to provide a brief survey of multiple functional techniques to assess brain activity highlighting advantages and disadvantages of fNIRS. Scalp-based neurophysiological techniques such as electroencephalography (EEG) and magnetoencephalography (MEG) offer a direct measurement of neuronal activity but present sensitivity, localization, and resolution issues; therefore, they are rarely used for functional brain imaging research, at least in developmental age. In comparison to EEG, fNIRS uses a similar experimental setting, is less susceptible to data corruption by movement artifacts and yields a more highly spatially resolved signal (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010), while presenting lower temporal resolution (Luck, 2005).

All the other methods of functional brain imaging rely on proxy measures of neuronal activity that are related to local blood flow, oxygenation, or metabolism (Raichle 1998). The most common of these functional brain imaging techniques is functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), providing like fNIRS measurements of hemodynamic responses linked to neurovascular coupling (Eggebrecht et al. 2012; Hillman, 2014). fMRI Blood Oxygen Level Dependent (BOLD) is a measure of the levels of DHb; decreases in DHb lead to an increase in signal which is termed "positive BOLD" and typically interpreted as an increase in neural activity. fNIRS takes advantage of the different optical absorption spectra of OHb and DHb to measure relative changes in each chromophore across the cortex using different wavelengths of near-infrared light. Thus, fNIRS gives back a more complex signal that reflects hemodynamic variations in the arterial, venous and capillary district (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010), enabling the assessment of both blood oxygenation and volume changes. Moreover, due to fast sampling rate, fNIRS appears to have a higher temporal resolution compared to fMRI. Further advantages of NIRS compared to the fMRI method concern the silence of the equipment, the lower sensitivity to movement artefacts and - consequently - the possibility of carrying out studies in a more ecological setting (Agbangla et al., 2017). The creation of a comfortable context capable of guaranteeing a good margin of movement for the subject is particularly useful in developmental age, and even more in subjects suffering

from Neurodevelopmental Disorders (NDDs) including Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD), and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD), in which the prolonged immobilization required to perform fMRI would be hard to obtain (Zhang & Roeyers, 2019).

Nevertheless, there are also some limitations of fNIRS technique to discuss. The main disadvantages of NIRS compared to fMRI are the lower spatial resolution (approximately 1 cm) and the inability to carry out an accurate structural analysis of the brain components, especially with regard to the deep regions (Aslin, 2012). Moreover, a limit shared by both NIRS and fMRI compared to technique that directly measure neuronal activity like EEG and MEG is the so-called hemodynamic delay: between the neuronal electrical activation and the hemodynamic modifications there is inevitably a time interval – on average 5 or 6 seconds – which must also be taken into consideration during the design of the study, in order to choose the adequate duration of stimuli and intervals within them, in order to allow return to baseline (Cui et al., 2010).

To conclude, compared to other neuroimaging techniques, fNIRS stands out for its portability, non-invasiveness, experimental flexibility to more ecological setting but also reliability of signal and robustness to motion artifacts. Thus, given its methodological advantages, fNIRS is an ideal neuroimaging tool to study neurodevelopment. It holds the potential to provide new insights about neural mechanisms, suggest biomarkers for screening infants and children for developmental disorders, and serve as an objective measure for the impacts of interventions.



Figure 1.2 Graphical representation of fNIRS technique compared to other neuroimaging methods in terms of spatial (x-axis) and temporal (y-axis) resolution (from Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010).

1.1.5 Experimental paradigm

When selecting an experimental design for fNIRS, researchers must consider a range of factors, including the statistical power of the protocol, the duration of the experiment, and whether the design provides the flexibility to study the effect of interest. FNIRS could be used both for measuring the cortical activation on a specific ROI in response to a stimulus (task-evoked study) or for measuring hemodynamics emanating from spontaneous neural activity, thus calculating spontaneous functional connectivity of the cortical network under exam (resting-state functional connectivity study). These two experimental paradigms are briefly discussed below.

For signal analysis, it is very important to consider some types of noise and artifacts that can constitute relevant confounding factors if adequate containment techniques are not adopted. First of all, some studies have highlighted how the subject is often able to "anticipate" the onset of the stimulus (Csibra et al., 2001) leading to an "anticipatory effect". To minimize this potential measurement error, the length of the control period (baseline) can be varied or the appearance of the stimulus randomized, so that the pattern of presentation of the stimuli is not predictable (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010). In addition to the anticipatory effect, further confounding factors are given by three different types of noise (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2010):

- Noise generated by the instrumentation;

Low frequency physiological oscillations;

 Movement artefacts: especially relevant in children, who are often unable to limit their motor skills.

Regarding the noise generated by the instrumentation, it is sufficient to apply low-pass filters, capable of allowing the passage of only signals with a frequency lower than a threshold, while attenuating those with a higher frequency (Koh et al., 2009).

Physiological oscillations are represented by breathing, heart rate, Meyer waves (low frequency arterial pressure oscillations): they can mimic the frequency and amplitude of the hemodynamic response to the stimulus, constituting an important source of error (Orihuela-Espina et al., 2010). To limit these confounding factors – first and foremost cerebrovascular oscillations – numerous studies highlight the importance of an experimental model which envisages the presentation of the stimulus at a frequency such as to minimize as much as possible the coupling between the functional hemodynamic activation and the aforementioned spontaneous oscillations. Furthermore, fNIRS recording also reflects surface vascular signals arising from non-

cortical sources (e.g., in the skull, skin, dura, and other tissues located between the sensors and the brain). To remove this kind of measurement bias, the use of a reference channel, called short-channel, has been proposed: it is characterized by a source – detector distance of about 1 cm, much lower than the commonly applied one, which allows the surface activity to be electively detected and subtracted from the fNIRS signal (Gagnon et al., 2012). Alternatively, a mock stimulus can be included into the experimental design serving as an inter-trial control event in order to verify HDR specificity of stimulus vs baseline.

Movement artifacts can instead be contained thanks to algorithms capable of eliminating data blocks referring exclusively to the signal generated by this type of noise, even with specific pipelines for infants and children (Di Lorenzo et al., 2019).

1.1.5.1 Task-evoked functional experiments

For task-evoked study, the experimental paradigms most commonly employed in fNIRS literature are block and event-related designs,

Block Design (BD) is constituted by blocks of different stimuli, lasting between 4 and 30 seconds, presented to the subject. Each block is followed by a control condition of adequate duration to guarantee the return of the HRF to baseline. Due to the repetitive presentation of the stimulus, only the HRF of the entire block can be detected and not of individual stimuli (van de Rijt et al., 2018). The BD appears to be the most widely used experimental model, apart from a few rare exceptions.

Event-related Design (ERD) is made of short stimuli, lasting between 1 and 4 seconds, presented in succession, with greater rapidity than the presentation time of the individual blocks in the BD. The faster presentation of stimuli reduces the time required for data acquisition, thus allowing to increase the total number of recordable events. However, for the statistical analysis of data obtained with this experimental model, more complex algorithms are required than those needed for BD (van de Rijt et al., 2018).

Whatever the model adopted for the study, the hemodynamic response recorded following the presentation of a stimulus must always be related to a control condition (baseline). Finally, during a task-evoked fNIRS study it is useful to take into account two other fundamental aspects:

- Specificity of the stimulus: numerous studies have demonstrated how the presence of any stimulus in itself leads to an increase in arousal/attention, which could cause the activation of a response recorded by some NIRS channels; this response, however, would not be strictly linked to the stimulus itself, but rather to a systemic gain in the hemodynamic response that follows the increase in arousal compared to the baseline condition, thus being able to generate a nonnegligible measurement error (Aslin, 2012).

 Regional selectivity: not all stimuli activate cortical regions according to the patterns predicted by the experimental design. In fact, there is often a notable dispersion of activation across numerous brain areas, and the signal is much more widespread than expected (van de Rijt et al., 2018).

1.1.5.2 Resting-state functional connectivity analysis

In addition to task-evoked functional experiments, fNIRS is also widely used to assess resting-state functional connectivity (FC) across multiple brain regions. Functional connectivity concerns the investigation of the correlation in slow signal changes (<0.1 Hz) between different parts of the brain. The sampling rate of typical fNIRS systems is 10 Hz, which provides ideal data for connectivity measures with a reduced risk of aliasing of activity with higher frequency (e.g., heart rate at approximately 1 Hz frequency) into the lower frequencies (<0.1 Hz), when compared to fMRI. Several studies showcase the flexibility of fNIRS for the assessment of cortical connectivity. The method has been validated using simultaneous fNIRS-fMRI measurements and is also suitable for infants (Bulgarelli et al., 2018) with no need of sedatives, offering a promising window to study developing brain (Hu et al., 2020).

In terms of analysis methods, classical approaches have been extended from fMRI to fNIRS such as the seed-based correlation method that evaluates the correlation between a seed region and other regions (Lu et al., 2020). The seed can be an fNIRS channel and the correlation or the coherence at different frequency bands can be evaluated between all possible pairs of seed-channels (Sasai et al., 2011). Growing evidence is rising regarding shared toolbox dedicated to optimize fNIRS signal analysis (Hou et al., 2021)

1.2 Application of fNIRS in cognitive neuroscience: from developmental age to adult brain

The fNIRS technique is developing rapidly over these years and the researchers of different areas are engaging in better understanding the functionality of the human brain. The main fields of fNIRS application are related to neurology, psychiatry, psychology, education, cognitive and social neuroscience, and many more. These include physiological brain development and ageing, but also pathological conditions such as Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI), neuro-motor (like stroke or neurodegenerative diseases) anxiety and mood disorder, schizophrenia, and so on in adults as well as NDDs in children (briefly summarized in following paragraphs, both in adult and in developmental age).

Notably, beyond the single participant studies reviewed above, one of the most exciting and rapidly growing areas of fNIRS is hyperscanning, where signals are recorded from two or more participants simultaneously, thus monitoring brain activation during natural interaction behaviors. By simultaneously recording from more than one brain, not only intra- but also inter-brain neural relations can be investigated (Czeszumski et al., 2020). It is common to use functional connectivity (FC) to quantify this synchronization. Depending on the paradigm and hypothesis, one could look at FC between the same region in different subjects, or different regions within different subjects - i.e., synchronization between Broca's area in a subject that is speaking compared to and Wernicke's area in a subject that is listening. It's worth noting that, unlike fMRI and EEG, fNIRS allows to measure cortical activity without restraining the subject's usual behavior in a social interaction, allowing for a higher ecological validity of the measurements. Possible applications to neuroscience of hyperscanning with fNIRS include, but are not limited to: mother-child interaction (e.g. Azhari et al., 2019), social self-perception (e.g. Balconi & Vanutelli, 2016) and atypical pattern in clinical samples (Kruppa et al., 2021).

Moreover, at least in adulthood, neuroimaging techniques are becoming important tools also for rehabilitation research. Functional neuroimaging techniques can be used to determine the effects of brain injury or disease on brain systems related to cognition and behavior, and to determine how rehabilitation changes cortical circuits. In particular, fNIRS has been applied to monitor brain plasticity after neurovascular events, both as a single technique or in more complex Brain Computer Interface (BCI) models.

1.2.1 fNIRS studies in adult subjects

Application of fNIRS technique in adults are wide, including the analysis of pure motor control during simple (i.e., finger tapping) and complex task (i.e., walking), but also more complex cognitive functions, ranging from normative population to the identification of atypical cortical HRF in acute and chronic neurological disorders. Moreover, lots of fNIRS papers focused on psychiatric disorders and their impact on cortical brain activation, identifying possible diagnostic landmark as well as putative markers for clinical monitoring.

1.2.1.1 fNIRS application in neurology

There is a considerable wealth of fNIRS literature showing that the regulation of motor functions in adult subjects is provided by primary cortical regions with the important contribution of higher multi-modal areas. Several multichannel fNIRS studies, indeed, have confirmed a reliable signal with a regionally specific response (Leff et al., 2011): motor stimuli precipitate typical hemodynamic responses over the primary motor cortex (M1) and maximal responses are observed in the hemisphere contralateral (versus ipsilateral) to the performing limb. However, the magnitude of the response may be modulated by the frequency, intensity, and/or complexity of motor stimulation, possibly reflecting the demand for additional neuronal recruitment. In healthy subjects, fNIRS studies have delineated the role of the primary sensorimotor cortex in walking, and of the prefrontal cortex (PFC) in realistic complex motor tasks of everyday living such as maintaining attention and concentration required for running (Harada et al., 2009).

Consistently with other neuroimaging studies (Kato et al., 2002), fNIRS research suggested that stroke patients suffer an impaired contralateral M1 activation, up regulation of ipsilateral motor activation, and longitudinal improvement in laterality toward contralateral M1 activation following rehabilitation (Takeda et al., 2007). Similar evidence came out from studies about Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI), suggesting the promising role of the technique in monitoring changes in cerebral hemodynamics that might mirror cortical functional reorganization between the acute and the chronic phase (Bhambhani et al., 2006).

Regarding chronic neurodegenerative disorders, fNIRS has been applied to Multiple Sclerosis (MS), Parkinson Disease (PD), and, mostly, Alzheimer Disease (AD).

Cerebral oxygenation in patients with AD was frequently investigated by means of verbal fluency tasks (VFT) showing impaired hemispheric lateralization as well as reduced OHb concentration increases (reflecting diminished cortical activation) within different brain regions, especially the dorsolateral PFC and parietal cortex (Arai et al., 2006). Moreover, fNIRS appears to have a prognostic role since many studies propose its use to differentiate dementia-related conditions and to identify Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI)/AD prodromal stages. Indeed, fNIRS allows us to monitor through the PFC the decline of executive functions and visuospatial abilities, which is an early symptom of these pathologies (Ung et al., 2020).

Most of the studies in PD are focused on walking and dual-task conditions to investigate the extent of PFC motor vs. executive and cognitive dysfunction. Indeed, the underlying hypothesis is that PFC compensates for the motor impairment, hence cortical activation can be considered as an overall index of cognitive load. Within the context of rehabilitation, the promotion of more localized cortical activation associated with executive-attentional functions could be a viable way to activate this compensatory mechanism (Stuart et al., 2019). Moreover, a considerable number of articles about PD uses fNIRS to evaluate the effect of Deep Brain Stimulation, investigating the cortical activity of the PFC or of the M1 during walking conditions, before and after the procedure (Morishita et al., 2016).

In MS field, most fNIRS reports are cross-sectional studies that investigated cortical activity mostly in frontal areas, employing different tasks, ranging from simple dual-task conditions, static motor protocols, and working memory (WM) tasks (for extensive review of literature see Bonilauri et al., 2020).

1.2.1.2 fNIRS application in psychiatry

In the past two decades, fNIRS has also been increasingly used to conduct functional activation studies in different psychiatric disorders (Ehlis et al., 2014), most prominently schizophrenic illnesses (Kumar et al., 2017), affective and anxiety disorders (Nishimura et al., 2009) as well as addiction and personality disorder, especially borderline personality (Ruocco et al., 2010).

Studies cover a wide range of objectives, including studies on the phenomenological characterization of psychiatric disorders (investigating differences in HRF between various groups of psychiatric patients and healthy control samples), descriptions of life-time developmental aspects, treatment effects of specific drugs or non-pharmacological interventions, and genetic influences on neuroimaging data (even if a few studies

focused on psychiatric cohort, particularly schizophrenic, patients)(Takizawa et al., 2009). From a methodological point of view, most fNIRS studies in psychiatric settings have been conducted on prefrontal activation, with the VFT being the most popular paradigm (Dieler et al., 2012). Overall, fNIRS studies in schizophrenia detected abnormal (lower) brain activation patterns in patients compared to controls, particularly within PFC, during various neurocognitive tasks such as random number generation, Tower of Hanoi, Stroop Test, VFT and Go/Nogo tasks, thus replicating the general finding of cerebral hypofrontality revealed by other neuroimaging methods. Additionally, prefrontal hemodynamic data were partly found to be impacted by clinical characteristics (i.e., age at onset), medication effects (Watanabe & Kato, 2004), and psychopathological symptom scores (Ehlis et al., 2014). Moreover, recent NIRS studies have demonstrated some promising data of altered resting state in the prefrontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia (for a detailed review see Yanagi et al., 2021).

Similarly, frontal areas were usually the ROI of most fNIRS studies in affective disorders such as, unipolar and bipolar disorder. Here, a reduced frontal lobe function has generally been confirmed during WM and VFT performance, even in remitted/euthymic stages of the disease (Kopf et al., 2023).

fNIRS studies on anxiety disorders have so far focused on panic disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), highlighting atypical pattern, again, of PFC activation during confrontation with anxiety-relevant material (Akiyoshi et al., 2003).

Finally, fNIRS seems to be a promising tool in practical psychiatric settings involving both diagnostics and the complementary treatment of psychological disorders using neurofeedback system, such as, for example, its application in social anxiety (Kimmig et al., 2019).

1.2.2 fNIRS studies in ageing

According to a recent systematic review of the literature (Yeung & Chan, 2021), more than hundred fNIRS papers have examined changes in the oxygenation of cerebral blood in older adults, suggesting that healthy aging is a growing area of scientific interest. Altogether, these studies suggest that aging is associated with changes in the activation and connectivity patterns of the brain, especially the PFC, both in resting state and taskrelated condition.

The majority of fNIRS reports using resting-state recordings show that, compared to younger adults, older ones have lower basal PFC oxygenation. High reproducibility of the results was observed between research groups (Harada et al., 2007; Tan et al.,

2016). Additionally, some studies have shown that aging is associated with modification in interhemispheric connectivity, in particular reduced connectivity between the left and right PFC, and increased connectivity between the PFC and sensorimotor cortex (i.e., increased influence from the motor cortex to the PFC). Apart from PFC oxygenation levels and connectivity between brain regions, other researches have focused on agerelated change in the coupling of PFC activity and arterial blood pressure and the agerelated attenuation of neurovascular coupling due to increased vessel stiffness and impaired myogenic response (Mukli et al., 2018). These findings are consistent with PET findings of age-related decline in regional blood flow and glucose metabolism in the frontal lobe (Kalpouzos et al., 2009). Various mechanisms are thought to underlie these age-related neurovascular coupling to age-related deterioration of white matter tract affecting PFC functioning and laying to compensatory functional connectivity to other cortical regions.

Regarding task-evoked paradigms, in particular involving sensorimotor functioning, fNIRS studies suggest that aging is associated with hyperactivation of the sensory cortex during active perceptual tasks (Lin et al., 2017; Ward et al., 2018), while being hypoactivated during passive stimulation tasks (Ward et al., 2015). Hyperactivation in the specialized sensory cortex may reflect the presence of compensatory mechanisms, such as an increased reliance on sensory reweighting, under perceptually challenging conditions. Similarly, the fNIRS literature suggests that aging is associated with frontal hyperactivation during simple motor tasks (Hawkins et al., 2018), but hypoactivation during complex motor tasks, such as dual-task walking and driving (Harada et al., 2007). Moreover, fNIRS findings suggest that age related frontal hyperactivation is indicative of compensatory activity across multiple cognitive operations (Agbangla et al., 2017), including verbal domain, such as word retrieval, working memory and semantic processing (Heinzel et al., 2015; Vermeij et al., 2012), task-switching and multitasking (Laguë-Beauvais et al., 2013), motor inhibition and interference control (Kawai et al., 2020). Taken together, this evidence would indicate that older adults recruit non-specialized regions to compensate for their functional decline in specialized regions. Importantly, the fNIRS literature is quite consistent with fMRI metanalytic studies reporting age-related frontal hyperactivation across multiple cognitive domains (Li et al., 2015).

Although aging is associated with changes in resting cerebral hemodynamics in general, due to a reduced efficiency of cerebral autoregulation process in elderliness, there is

considerable inter subject variability of hemodynamic response (Suhr & Chelberg, 2013), suggesting some other factors to take into account. Notably, some studies have shown that physical exercise and sleep quality are two lifestyle habits that exert a modulating effect over resting cerebral oxygenation among healthy older adults; in particular, fNIRS recordings on elderly subjects suggested that poor sleep reduces brain phase synchronization, which may contribute to the diminished cognitive functions among the sample population (Bu et al., 2018).

Although fNIRS is a promising tool to study healthy aging, it has some limitations and potential pitfalls, in particular a limited depth of light penetration that prevent to measure activity in deep brain structures, such as the limbic system and subcortical regions. In addition, fNIRS measures neural activity without providing anatomical information about the brain regions being studied, raising possible critical issue in population with putative neurovascular comorbidity such as elderly one. Thus, the relationship between age-related changes in brain structure and function cannot be determined solely using this method.

Despite these methodological issues, the growing application of fNIRS to elderly research will help to improve neurobiological models of aging, inspire interventions that might be used to enhance the brain function of older people, and identify biomarkers of aging that can be used to differentiate healthy and pathological aging (Yeung & Chan, 2020). In particular, some fNIRS studies have already focused on MCI and dementia like AD, in order to replicate evidence from other neuroimaging technique (Yoon et al., 2023) and tailor rehabilitative interventions (Viola et al., 2014).

1.2.3 fNIRS studies in neonates, infants and children

The past decade has seen a dramatic increase of neuroimaging studies of infancy, shedding light on typical and atypical neurodevelopment since the first months of life (Azhari aet al., 2020).

Neuroimaging studies in young subjects have been limited by challenges posed by this particular cohort in experimental settings, including practical and procedural difficulties such as sustaining the attention and the compliance of subjects, artefact movements diminishing the quality of data, and the need for friendly procedures (Raschle et al., 2012). Despite of these difficulties, application of functional neuroimaging research in infancy and childhood has rapidly increased and given precious insight into brain plasticity. In this respect, within several functional techniques available (i.e., EEG, MEG

and fMRI), fNIRS stands out for his non-invasiveness and feasibility in very young subjects (even if with high dropout rates compared with adults). In the last years, much time and many resources have been applied to technical improvement to maximize the effectiveness of NIRS as a tool for infant research, i.e., designing increasingly sophisticated array of channels for NIRS probes and headgear in order to be comfortable and accurate. As previously reported, conducting a fNIRS study in younger population needs specific methodological foresights, linked to apparatus and experimental design used. Notably, mostly before 2 years of age when brain is rapidly growing, optimal emitter-probe distance need to be *a priori* accurately discussed according to age of the subject and ROIs to study. Moreover, non-canonical HDR can be often recorded in this range of age, requiring a more complex interpretation of results.

As for adults, in pediatric population the fields of application of fNIRS are wide, ranging from language and learning abilities, to motor system, to cognitive and social domains, both in typical and atypical population. Growing interest in the field is rising from longitudinal studies, that propose causal relationships in neurodevelopment rather than cross-sectional ones primarily indicate developmental patterns devoid of causal inferences. According to a recent review (Su et al., 2023), to date there are almost 84 fNIRS longitudinal studies looking at developmental trajectories in pediatric population, the majority of these focused specifically on infant and toddler populations, while the others focused on the school age children and adolescents or transition to adulthood. Most of these studies only included Typically Developing (TD) infants/children/adults, Overall, fNIRS studies on infants and children show a general trend of age-related increase in network integration and segregation, interhemispheric connectivity, leftward asymmetry, and differences in phase oscillation during resting-state. Moreover, a developmental trend of more localized and differentiated activation when processing visual, auditory, and tactile information has been noted, suggesting more mature and specialized sensory networks. Later in life, children switched from recruiting bilateral auditory to a left-lateralized language circuit when processing social auditory and language information and showed increased prefrontal activation during executive functioning tasks.

Findings of fNIRS studies in typically developing infants and children are crucial for interpreting the results of studies in atypically developing populations. In particular, the studies of several social (i.e., joint attention, face perception, language acquisition) and cognitive domains (i.e., executive functioning such as inhibition, cognitive shifting, and working memory) have been fundamental to enucleate core deficits of

neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASD and ADHD, respectively. Moreover, ongoing research into understanding the hemodynamic changes that occur in the sensory systems in the infant brain is continuously growing (Aslin, 2012) and rising interest in the use fNIRS to evaluate (and potentially predict) preterm motor development (de Oliveira et al., 2019). Notably, NIRS has also been applied to monitor regional cerebral oxygenation (cRSO2) in healthy babies (Tina et al., 2009) as well as in Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) for newborns in critical conditions (Pichler et al., 2014), claiming then the usefulness of this tool also as an early potential predictor of outcome in perinatal asphyxia (Nicklin et al., 2003) or in prematurity (Chock et al., 2020). Starting from these considerations, the next paragraphs will focus on fNIRS application to study typical development in several brain domains ranging from primary sensory areas and sensorimotor cortex ("low-level" cortical processing) to more complex cognitive process such as social cognition, executive functioning and language, while in the section "Application of fNIRS in neurodevelopmental disorders" fNIRS application in atypical neurodevelopment will be extensively described.

1.2.3.1 Primary sensory areas and sensorimotor cortex studied with fNIRS

FNIRS has been proven reliable for investigation of primary cortices involved in sensory perception and motor execution both in adults and in children. Often simultaneous fNIRS-EEG experiment has been conducted in this field in order to explore the precise relationship between changes in neural activity and hemoglobin concentrations (Chen et al., 2015).

Regarding sensory processing, several studies focused on the characteristics of such "low-level" cortical activation, mostly in visual and auditory perception (for the latter see review of van de Rijt et al., 2018). Altogether these findings demonstrate area specificity of fNIRS response and stimulus selectivity using both visual task (Takahashi et al., 2000) and auditory ones (Chen et al., 2015). Moreover, a stimulus-dependent modulation of the fNIRS signal could be observed for luminance level in the visual area, as well as for loudness or intensity variability in the auditory area, suggesting sensitivity of fNIRS response to trigger's characteristics (Chen et al., 2015; Bauernfeind et al., 2018). Similar findings arise from studies on developmental age, outlining a detectable specific occipital response to simple visual stimulus (like checkerboard pattern) starting from 3 months-old infants (Watanabe et al., 2008). Further exploration on early visual processing came from the study of photostimulation of infants during natural sleep, revealing non-canonical HDR with decreasing of OHb and THb and increasing of DHb

(Kusaka et al., 2004). Auditory processing in infants has been typically studied using more complex stimuli, such as speech-like sounds, however demonstrating early specialization of temporal brain areas (Bortfeld et al., 2007; Gervain et al., 2008). To date, sporadic reports describe the use of pure tone stimuli in infants but in the context of oddball experimental paradigm, thus, to evaluate longitudinally habituation and novelty detection rather than auditory response itself (Katus et al., 2023). Moreover, isolated studies used auditory-evoked response to monitor broad cerebral oxygenation changes in newborns with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy (Chen et al., 2002). Furthermore, brain activation in response in the frame of learning experimental paradigm has been widely studied in infants (Emberson et al., 2015), supporting the hypothesis of a predictive coding in sensory processing (Friston, 2005). Interestingly, recent studies found that prematurity, altering top-down prediction network, might also cause atypical response in sensory perception, mostly of visual stimuli (Boldin et al., 2018).

Regarding tactile sensation, which is one of the earliest developing sensory systems, fNIRS has been applied since first days of life, highlighting that in early newborn period the tactile stimuli induce broader areas of brain activation than the other types of stimuli (Shibata et al., 2012). These results suggest that there are differences in newborns' reactions to various types of sensory stimuli, which may reflect the importance of tactile sensation in the early newborn period. Interestingly, several studies addressed also the issue of nociception experience in newborn suggesting the promising role of a such non-invasive technique like fNIRS in NICU to early detect pain in critically ill infants (Ranger et al., 2011)

One domain in which there is very little research in infancy and childhood is action observation and/or execution in either typical or atypical development, while more evidence comes from studies in adults (for a recent review on the field see Condy et al., 2021). The neural mechanism underlying these behaviors has recently gained popularity for its potential connection to the human mirror neuron system (MNS), a neural network that presents similar activation while an individual performs a goal-directed action and while he observes another performing it. The human MNS is comprised of the sensorimotor cortex, inferior frontal gyrus (IFG), and inferior parietal lobe (IPL) (Buccino, et al., 2001). Because of the proximity to the scalp of these three regions, the use of fNIRS presents a unique opportunity to measure the early development of the MNS and its potential role in atypical development. Indeed, many have hypothesized a link between action understanding and the development of more

complex social cognition, such as joint attention, imitation, theory of mind, and empathy.

To date, in infancy evidence using fNIRS focused mostly on action observation: in particular interesting findings came from the study of Lloyd-Fox et al. (2011) and Grossmann et al. (2013). In the first study, videos of a woman moving her eyes, opening and closing her mouth, and making a fist with her right hand was presented to 5-month-old infants (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2011). The biological movement conditions were contrasted with a baseline condition of moving toys. The study revealed an increase in OxyHb during the stimulus condition, the earliest demonstration that observation of biological motion activates motor regions in human infants. In the second study, four videos of an individual performing dance was presented to 4-month-old infants (Grossmann et al. 2013). In two of the videos, there was a human performing a natural dance or robotic movements and in the other two videos a Lego man was animated to match the two dances performed by the human. Contrary to the results reported by Lloyd-Fox et al. (2011), there was no clear increase in OHb in channels over the IFG region to the observation of human actions. These two studies represent first attempts to measure MNS activation to biological motion with fNIRS in infants; however, no study has measured activity in these regions during action execution. The functional activity of the sensorimotor cortex, IFG, and IPL represent important regions for fNIRS researchers to focus future efforts.

Altogether these findings demonstrate that fNIRS could be a reliable and non-invasive candidate tool to explore brain activation in response to simple trigger since early developmental age, theoretically suitable also for more complex stimuli and cognitive domains.

1.2.3.2 The study of language development with fNIRS

The availability of a non-invasive method to investigate neuronal networks underlying language processing is particularly crucial due the fast pace of learning of this complex cognitive function during the first years of life. The applicability of the methodology in infants opens the possibility to assume a life-time perspective and compare results in adults with language acquisition processes in preverbal infants.

To date, there is a wide range of studies focused on auditory language processing and acquisition, both in developmental age and adulthood (see review of Quaresima et al., 2012), variably targeted to efficiency of word and sentence elaboration (involving phonological and prosodic features as well as semantic and syntactic information) (Rossi

et al., 2012), but also hemispheric lateralization of auditory processing and its evolution during development (Gervain et al., 2011).

From a historical point of view, in 1998, the activation of the Broca's area during language processing was demonstrated for the first time by utilizing the first commercial fNIRS system (the 24-channel Hitachi ETG-100) (Watanabe et al., 1998). Thereafter, almost all the published data have been obtained employing multi-channel systems (up to 128 channels). A robust cortical activation has been observed in the brain's classic language areas in children/adults as well as newborns using instrumentations of different complexity. A wide variety of sounds has been used as auditory stimulations on infants (for instance, artificial sounds, music and speech) for addressing some important issues such as the development of multimodal perception, the mechanisms underlying the acquisition of auditory and speech patterns, the brain mechanisms underlying language learning, the development of hemispheric lateralization of speech and music responses (due to the overlap between social and language studies in this field, principal findings are briefly described in next paragraph).

The processing of semantic information in monolingual and bilingual language contexts was extensively investigated too using fNIRS, counting to date almost twenty studies in literature.

Moreover, the method may be especially helpful in patients with cochlear implant (CI) as well as in adults suffering from aphasia after stroke event. Indeed, outcomes following cochlear implantation vary widely for both adults and children looking at behavioral tests that, unfortunately, can be unreliable, particularly for younger subjects. Thus, lots of scientific effort has been done to asses with more objective measure like fNIRS the effect of CI on language network re-organization (Harrison et al., 2021).

1.2.3.3 FNIRS in social neuroscience

A range of social perception and interaction studies in children have been implemented with fNIRS, particularly focusing on identifying what regions of the developing brain preferentially respond to social vs. non-social (or less social) stimuli. Some of these studies are similar to typical fMRI studies, examining face perception, emotion perception, and theory of mind in both child and adult populations (i.e., emotion recognition in mothers and infants testified by activation of PFC when seeing videos of the other smiling) (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2009). But, building on the participantfriendly nature of fNIRS, a larger number of studies use this method to explore the development of cognition and social cognition have been carried out in infants, children, and individuals with developmental disorders, even with more naturalistic and interactive experimental settings. Such work tracks the development of body perception (Grossmann et la., 2013) response to direct gaze (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2015), responses to speech (Bortfeld et al., 2007) and many other tasks.

The majority of fNIRS studies of infant social development have focused on the visual domain, overcoming the difficulty of collecting fMRI data with awake infants. To date, fNIRS studies have examined brain responses to dynamic visual social stimuli such as human movement, faces, facial emotion, and eye gaze (for extensive review of results see McDonald et al., 2018). From the first days of life, areas of the right and left posterior temporal cortex selectively respond to dynamic face stimuli (i.e., videos of an adult playing peek-a-boo; Farroni et al., 2013). At 5 months, infants continue to show increased bilateral activation to videos of social movement in the posterior temporal cortex, with a right hemisphere dominance of response at this age and different topological patterns of brain activation in response to specific socially-relevant body movements such as eye movement, hand movement, mouth movements (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2011). In addition to human movements, images of faces have been used to examine infant brain responses to faces and facial expressions. fNIRS studies focused on infant brain responses to canonical vs. scrambled or inverted faces suggest preferential activation of the right temporal area in social perception by mid-way through the first year of life (Honda et al., 2010). fNIRS has also been used to study infant brain responses to facial emotional expressions, highlighting from 7-months of age, different patterns of brain responses to happy vs angry faces, with regard to both the localization and timing of activity (Nakato et al., 2011). Moreover, Grossmann and colleagues have conducted a series of fNIRS experiments examining infant brain responses to aspects of joint attention, finding that already by 4-5 months of age infants distinguish between mutual vs. averted gaze conditions in areas of the frontal and temporal cortices and this pattern modifying longitudinally (Grossmann et al., 2008).

There have been also a growing number of fNIRS studies focused on examining infant brain responses to pre-recorded auditory social stimuli, particularly investigating brain responses to human vocalizations, differences in speech prosody (including infantdirected speech), and socially-relevant speech (i.e., response to name) (for extensive review of results see McDonald et al., 2018). Compared to previous fMRI studies, fNIRS in this field shows methodological advantages including the relative silence and

increased accessibility of fNIRS systems, and, as noted above, the ability to assess brain responses while infants are awake.

Numerous studies have contrasted infant brain responses to human vocalizations (e.g., laughing, coughing) vs. non-social sounds (e.g., rattle, running water), consistently finding that infants begin responding preferentially to social vs. non-social sounds in the second half of the first year of life as testified by increased activation to social stimuli in the left and right temporal cortex (Grossmann et al. 2010a). Differential responses to variations in prosody have also been examined in infants using fNIRS, showing that at 7 months of age infants further differentiate cortical response emotional tone (Grossmann et al., 2010a). In addition to studying basic vocalizations and prosody, fNIRS has also been used to study the neural underpinnings of infant response to name, that is considered an important developmental milestone in social development. At 5 months, an age at which clear behavioral indicators of response to name are often not evident, infants have shown increased activation in response to their own (vs. another) name in an fNIRS channel in the left dorsal PFC (Grossmann et al., 2010b).

Overall, these studies suggest that areas that are involved in social information processing during adulthood appear to rapidly become sensitive to social stimuli within the first year of life, including the posterior superior temporal sulcus (STS)-temporoparietal junction (TPJ) area region and areas of the PFC. Moreover, typically developing infants begin to show preferential responses to multi-modal social stimuli in areas of the temporal and frontal cortices within the first 6 months of life. Interestingly, infants at elevated risk for social deficits demonstrate differential responses to pre-recorded social stimuli during the first year of life, prior to observable behavioral differences (Jones et al., 2014).

Finally, as previously mentioned, one of the most exciting and rapidly growing areas of fNIRS in social neuroscience is hyperscanning, where signals are recorded from two or more participants simultaneously. Notably, hyperscanning studies of mother-child interaction allow to demonstrate pattern of typical and atypical, highlighting the harmful role of parenting stress; for example, the study of Azhari and colleagues has shown that greater parenting stress is associated with less brain-to-brain synchrony in the medial left cluster of the prefrontal cortex when mother and child engage in a typical dyadic task of watching animation videos together (Azhari et al., 2019). Sporadic reports on fNIRS hyperscanning come also from NDDs field and in particular this technique seems to be particularly promising for the study of neurobiological underpinnings of ASD. For example, Wang and colleagues have studied level of interpersonal neural

synchronization in the frontal cortex within ASD children and their parents in cooperative interactions or during non-interactive behaviors: interestingly, this neural synchronization was modulated by the children's autism symptoms, which also covaried with their cooperation task performance (Wang et al., 2020).

1.2.3.4 Executive functions explored with fNIRS

Executive functions (EF) refer to the higher-order cognitive control process for the attainment of a specific goal. There are several subcomponents of EF, such as cognitive shifting, working memory and inhibition (Lehto et la., 2003). Extensive neuroimaging research in adults has revealed that the lateral prefrontal cortex plays an important role in EF. Developmental studies have reported behavioral evidence showing that EF changes significantly during preschool years. Similarly, there is some anatomical evidence obtained with MRI studies that the prefrontal cortex develops during preschool years (Gogtay et al., 2004) but little functional neuroimaging data have demonstrated the functional development of these cortical areas in young children. Interestingly, fNIRS has shown that prefrontal activation is developmentally correlated with EF in young children with a pattern of response that is age-specific.

Many brain imaging studies using fMRI have shown that adult participants recruit inferior and dorsolateral prefrontal regions during cognitive shifting tasks, such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST) (Monchi et al., 2001). In the WCTS participants are asked to sort cards depicting geometric features (such as shape, color, and number) according to not-explicit rules that are detected through feedback progressively given (and changed) by an experimenter. In preschoolers, developmental studies have shown that 3-year-old children often perseverate to previous mental sets, whereas 5-year-old children do not. fNIRS has given direct supporting evidence that maturation of the prefrontal cortex, particularly inferior prefrontal activation, plays an essential role in the development of successful shifting in young children (Moriguchi & Hiraki, 2009). Regarding WM task, evidence from older children and adults has consistently shown that regions in the prefrontal cortex, such as the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, play an important role in visuospatial working memory (Braver et al., 1997). Overall, fNIRS research has demonstrated that children activate the right prefrontal regions during visuospatial working memory tasks, similarly to adults. Early developmental changes in WM, however, were more controversial with some studies showing stronger activation in older children (Buss et al., 2014) whereas other reporting weaker activation and less right-lateralized responses in older children (Tsujii et al. 2009). Instead, few NIRS

studies have been conducted on the development of inhibitory control in young children. On this topic, interesting finding came out from studies comparing preschoolers (4- to 6-year-old children) and adults performing a Go/NoGo task, where participants were asked to respond to targets by pressing a button (Go trials) and to avoid making a response to non-targets (NoGo trials) (Mehnert et al. 2013). fNIRS results showed that adults activate right frontal and parietal regions during NoGo trials compared to Go trials, whereas children's right frontal and parietal activation was high in both Go and NoGo trials.

Collectively the available results highlighted that prefrontal activation may change developmentally across different tasks (e.g., working memory and cognitive shifting tasks), suggesting the possibility that the prefrontal regions may be generally activated across different tasks in preschoolers, but may become more localized to specific regions in older children. Moreover, how the development of prefrontal function may be related to other aspects of socio-cognitive skills, such as theory of mind, communicative skills, and emotional regulation, is still an open question. Interestingly, recent research has tried to fill this gap examining the relationship between prefrontal activation and emotion regulation, showing that dorsolateral PFC activation was associated with cognitive flexibility but also irritability in children, thus, suggesting the entwined nature of cognitive and emotional neurodevelopment since first years of life (Li et al., 2017).

1.3 Application of fNIRS in Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Understanding the neurodevelopmental trajectories of infants and children is essential for the early identification of neurodevelopmental disorders, elucidating the neural mechanisms underlying the disorders, and predicting developmental outcomes.

Although the growing number of studies using fNIRS so far, unfortunately its role in diagnostic or rehabilitative pipeline (for the early identification of developmental disorders and in tracking the effects of interventions) is not standardized yet due to a lack of synthesized evidence.

A brief summary of fNIRS evidence in principal NDDs such as ASD, ADHD and Developmental Dyslexia is respectively given in next paragraphs. Compared to typically developing (TD) peers, children with aforementioned developmental disorders, demonstrate atypical neurodevelopmental trajectories during resting-state and when performing executive functioning tasks. In order to investigate the application of fNIRS

to NDDs in younger population, a systematic review of literature has been recently performed focusing specifically preschoolers, finding as principal application of technique in this subgroup the assessment of ASD children or high-risk infants (Conti et al., 2022). Regarding other NDDs, fNIRS studies on rare diseases with Intellectual Disability (ID) is only anecdotal yet (Bembich et al., 2021).

1.3.1 Language impairment and Learning Disabilities

As mentioned before, a notable bulk of fNIRS literature is dedicated to language research, even if mainly in typical developed children. Indeed, fNIRS was rarely used to investigate neural underpinnings of language disorder such as developmental stuttering, a complex, multifactorial condition characterized by frequent disruption of the fluent flow of speech. In particular, the extent of laterality (left versus right cerebral dominance) in brain function for phonological and prosodic contrast tasks was assessed with fNIRS in adults, school-aged children, and preschool-aged children who stutter (Sato et al., 2011). The researchers found that age-matched nonstuttering speakers consistently exhibited greater left than right laterality of brain response when listening to auditory stimuli differing in phoneme versus prosody. In contrast, not even one subject among the stuttering group exhibited leftward laterality for the phoneme versus prosodic contrasts. Relatively more evidence comes from learning disabilities, in particular developmental dyslexia (Marks et al., 2022). Developmental dyslexia is characterized by a deficit of phonological awareness whose origin is related to atypical neural processing of speech streams. Thus, fNIRS has been applied to study cortical networks derived from low-level auditory processing of nonspeech stimuli related to speech units such as stress, syllables or phonemes, suggesting the presence of discrepancies in the topological organizations of functional brain networks and their dynamics that differentiate between control and dyslexic subjects (Gallego-Molina et al., 2023). Moreover, other studies support the presence of atypical cortical activation in the left prefrontal cortex in dyslexic subjects indicating a deficiency in working memory (Zhu et al., 2012).

1.3.2 Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a complex neurodevelopmental condition characterized by early-onset and persistent challenges in social interactions, impaired communication, restricted interests, repetitive behavior, and alterations of sensory processing (Hyman et al, 2020). FNIRS is increasingly being used to investigate the functional development of the brain in ASD. A recent review of Zhang and colleagues (Zhang et al, 2019) found thirty empirical studies, published in the past decade, that used fNIRS in individuals with ASD or in infants with a high risk of developing ASD. These studies investigated either brain activation using multiple tasks (e.g., social task such as face processing and joint attention, but also EF such as working memory) or functional organization under a resting-state condition in ASD. The majority of these studies reported atypical brain activation in the prefrontal cortex, inferior frontal gyrus, middle and superior temporal gyrus; main findings are reported as follows (for a more extensive description see the review of Zhang et al., 2022). The majority of fNIRS studies have been conducted in schooler ASD children with normal intellectual functioning or in adult subjects. Many studies focused on facial processing, finding a decreased response in individuals with ASD compared to peers with typically development in the IFG during self-face recognition (Kita et al., 2011), as well as in the PFC when processing fearful faces (Nakadoi et al., 2012). With regard to social-cognitive tasks including joint attention and imitation, the results of fNIRS studies showed abnormal activity patterns in children with ASD in the frontal cortex, such as lower activation in the PFC when following eye gazes of others (Zhu et al., 2015) as well as reduced activation in the IFG and decreased left lateralization in the rostral PFC for imitation tasks (Tamura et al., 2012). Moreover, almost ten fNIRS studies have investigated executive functions in ASD, mostly working memory and inhibition domains. These studies observed an atypical activation in the PFC during letter-fluency tasks (Kuwabara et al., 2006), working memory tasks (Yanagisawa et al., 2016) and task switching/ inhibition (Funabiki et al., 2012). However, ASD participants showed task-specific heterogeneity of the PFC pattern of response. It is worth noting that fNIRS signal has proven its usefulness as an auxiliary tool for the differential diagnosis of ASD and ADHD starting from divergent HDR in left ventrolateral prefrontal activation during inhibitory control between these two cohorts (Ishii-Takahashi et al., 2013).

Interestingly, fNIRS has been used as an early marker of atypical neurodevelopment, even prior to the full clinical manifestation. In particular, fNIRS has been extensively used to study infant population at high risk (HR) for autism like siblings. To date, five papers investigated social perception and three others assessed possible alterations of language processing in the HR group (for a recent review see Conti et al., 2022). In particular, the pioneering study of Lloyd-Fox group used fNIRS to identify differences in neural responses to visual and auditory social stimuli since 4-month-old infants at risk

for autism, indicating its potential for early diagnosis (Lloyd-Fox et al., 2013; Lloyd-Fox et al., 2018).

Moreover, regarding resting-state fNIRS recording, some studies revealed altered functional connectivity, suggesting an inefficient information transfer between brain regions in ASD. Taken together, fNIRS studies indicate that children with ASD show an initial outgrowth followed by a later decrease in resting-state functional connectivity (for a recent review see Zhang et al., 2022), consistently with evidence from other neuroimaging technique. Indeed, although fNIRS results are sometimes inconsistent between research groups, this developmental pattern has also been reported in EEG and fMRI studies in children with ASD, which may be explained by initial short-range overconnectivity and later long-range underconnectivity (Uddin et al., 2013).

1.3.3 Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

ADHD patients have deficits in executive functions, the higher-level cognitive functions necessary for mature adult goal-directed behaviors, that are mediated by late developing fronto-striato-parietal and fronto-cerebellar networks (Rubia, 2013). The most consistent deficits are in so-called "cool" EF such as motor response inhibition, working memory, sustained attention, response variability and cognitive switching as well as in temporal processing (i.e., motor timing, time estimation and temporal foresight), with most consistent deficits in time discrimination and estimation tasks (Rubia, 2018). However, impairment has also been found in other EF domains such as motivation control and reward-related decision making (i.e., temporal discounting and gambling tasks), even if with more inconsistent findings. fNIRS has been used as valuable tool to record activation mainly of frontal circuits, in order to study neurobiologic underpinnings of ADHD or to monitor response to specific pharmacological therapy (methylphenidate or atomoxetine).

To date, more than 50 studies have been published on this topic, suggesting that children and adolescents with ADHD show peculiar cortical activation both during neurological and emotional tasks consisting of a lower prefrontal cortex activation in patients compared to typically developmental peers (for recent review on this topic see Mauri et al., 2018). Among the executive functions, impaired inhibition is frequently observed in children with ADHD in fNIRS studies while performing typical behavioral test such as stroop task, reverse stroop task or Go/No-Go task. The group of Negoro (Negoro et al., 2010) reported that children with ADHD showed significantly smaller changes in oxy-hemoglobin than TD children in the inferior lateral PFC bilaterally during

the Stroop color-word task. The group of Yasumura. (Yasumura et al., 2014) reported that inattention severity in the ADHD group was negatively correlated with right lateral PFC activity during the reverse stroop task. The group of Kaga (Kaga et al., 2020) reported that children with ADHD showed a greater decrease in hemodynamic activity in the right PFC than those in the TD group using fNIRS during the Go/No-Go task. Although the studies differed slightly in terms of methods, the hemodynamic activity of the right PFC in the ADHD group was consistently lower than in control group.

Moreover, twelve articles describe longitudinally the effects of specific pharmacotherapy in ADHD samples. The majority of the studies revealed an increasing of oxygenated hemoglobin concentrations in the prefrontal cortex following Methylphenidate or Atomoxetine treatment, finding often an increased HDR in the right dorsolateral and ventrolateral PFC regions (for an extensive review on this topic see Grazioli et al., 2019). Thus, both in cross-sectional and longitudinal fNIRS studies on ADHD an interesting pattern of lateralization of HDR has been reported (Doi et Shinoara., 2017), supporting the right-lateralized atypicality in children with ADHD previously described with behavioral assessment and other neuroimaging techniques (Stefanatos & Wasserstein, 2001; Valera et al., 2007).

More recently, researchers have begun to investigate the feasibility of fNIRSneurofeedback training protocols. Neurofeedback is a form of biofeedback in which subjects respond to a display of their own brainwaves or other neural activity of the nervous system, typically obtained with EEG or fMRI signal. fNIRS-neurofeedback effectiveness in changing behavior in healthy and pathological populations (such as ADHD) remain still difficult to interpret because studies are methodologically heterogeneous and large randomized controlled trials are still lacking (for an extensive review see Kohl et al., 2020). Nevertheless, due to the advantages of practicability and relatively low cost, fNIRS-neurofeedback might provide a suitable and powerful alternative to EEG and fMRI neurofeedback in future research.

To conclude, to date fNIRS has robustly proved its validity in several neuroscience fields and age, ranging from application in very young to elder subjects. Notably, fNIRS is a promising tool for studies focused on infancy and childhood, thanks to non-invasiveness and flexibility of technique. Indeed, there is a growing interest to track developmental trajectories in typical and, mostly, atypical neurodevelopment and fNIRS might represent a potential and reliable biomarkers of brain function in the next years.

2 Aim of the thesis

Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) has widely demonstrated its usefulness to study both typical and atypical brain development (Vanderwert & Nelson, 2014). However, fNIRS application as a biomarker of brain function in NDDs and, mostly, in rare diseases, remains sparse yet.

In this field, the increasing availability of innovative disease-modifying interventions leads to a concomitant urgent need of identification and validation of practical and reliable outcome measures and biomarkers for future clinical trial, including drug evaluation studies (Lee et al., 2018). Theoretically, clinical readouts should test a broad range of ability and quantify core defects, overcome cooperation/variable performance problems (leading to limited standardization and floor effects), correlate with quality of life, and assure high reproducibility of results. Unfortunately, these desirable outcome measures are very difficult to obtain in NDDs population, with clinical readouts being highly prone to subjective bias. Similarly, an ideal biomarker should be objective, reliable and sensitive in order to optimize clinical assessment and provide unbiased endpoints of treatment response as well as predictors of outcome.

In this scenario, neuroimaging biomarkers and in particular a non-invasive technique such as fNIRS might cover a crucial role. A growing number of studies pointed to visual impairments across multiple NDDs and to visually evoked responses as functional biomarker for the study of the severity and progression of such disorders (LeBlanc et al., 201; Saby et al., 2021; Saby et al., 2022). Accordingly, preclinical studies using intrinsic optical signal (IOS) imaging (Zepeda et al., 2004) demonstrated that the assessment of cerebral oxygen consumption in response to visual tasks can effectively discriminate between healthy and pathological brain circuits in several NDDs models (de Freitas Dotto et al., 2014; Mazziotti et al., 2017; Felgerolle et al., 2019; Mazziotti et al., 2020). Interestingly, both IOS imaging and fNIRS are optical techniques providing an indirect measure of neuronal activity and relying on the same physiological sources, i.e., the changes of hemoglobin species and local blood flow in in active brain regions.

Thus, hypothesizing that HDR represents a sensitive readout for quantifying functional alterations of neural circuits, the aim of this research project was to assess the feasibility, validity and reliability of fNIRS visual recordings in several cohorts of NDDs, with regard, especially, on under investigated clinical population including rare genetic disease.

To this purpose, a novel visual-evoked fNIRS paradigm has been designed to increase the entertaining value of hemodynamic measurements (HDR) in the occipital cortex. A
first standardization of this novel experimental paradigm has been proved in normative adult population. In order to overcome well-known methodological issues in young population, some implementations have been done to optimize compliance of children, demonstrating technique feasibility and consistency of HDR metrics compared to adults. Reliability and reproducibility of the measure has been longitudinally assessed as well, evaluating test/retest consistency at three different timepoints.

Then, the feasibility and validity of visual HDR in atypical neurodevelopment were assessed in two pilot cross-sectional studies. The first one was conducted in a cohort of preschooler autistic female (fASD) in order to explore a novel non-invasive tool supporting diagnostic pipeline. Indeed, differences in clinical presentation typically make diagnosis more challenging in females than in males with significant negative implications for the treatment and the quality of life for women with autism. In addition this activity would provide desirable novel insights about possible neurobiological underpinnings of fASD. A second cross-sectional study aimed to explore the potential application of visual HDR in Creatine Transporter Deficiency (CTD) syndrome, a rare metabolic disease causing a lack of creatine in the brain and, thus, a misleading energy use in neuron. The diagnostic pathway of CTD is well established but there is a pressing need of reliable readouts for testing the efficacy of potential drugs. Thus, starting from encouraging data in the preclinical mouse model (Mazziotti et al., 2020), fNIRS signals have been used to explore the validity of this metric to discriminate atypical brain activation in CTD patients compared to controls.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Apparatus and montages

Our fNIRS apparatus has been optimized to measure changes in total Hb (THb) concentration and relative oxygenation levels (OHb and DHb) in the occipital cortex during a visual task.

Technical equipment consists of a continuous-wave NIRS system (NIRSport 8×8, NIRx Medical Technologies LLC, Berlin, Germany). Our NIRSport system includes eight red light-sources operating at 760 and 850 nm, and eight detectors that can be placed into a textile EEG cap (EASYCAP, Herrsching, Germany), forming an array of 22 multidistant channels. Textile caps of different sizes were used according to the age and head size of the subjects. The probe arrangement was fixed in each of the caps using grommets, optode stabilizers, colored labels, and holders in order to assure comparable probe mapping over all subjects. Visual areas were identified according to the craniocerebral topography within the international 10-20 system and the placement of the optodes was done using fOLD v2.2 (Zimeo Morais et al., 2018) and NIRSite 2.0 (NIRx Medical Technologies LLC) software. Sources (8) and detectors (7) were symmetrically distributed to define 22 channels around the ROIs, each adjacent pair of sources and detectors defining one channel (min-max source-detector separation: 20-44mm for adults, 22-30mm for children; Fig. 3.1).

For data recording, the Aurora Software 1.4.1.1 (NIRx Medical Technologies LLC) was employed. The sampling rate was 10.2 Hz.



Figure 3.1 Occipital 8x7 montage. Optodes are placed according to the international 10-20 system; sources (red circles) and detectors (blue circles) were symmetrically distributed to define 22 channels around the visual areas of the cortex, each adjacent pair of sources and detectors defining one channel.

3.2 Task-related visual paradigm

Visual stimuli were generated using Python 3 and Psychopy3 (Peirce et al., 2019) and displayed with gamma correction on a monitor (Sharp LC-32LE352EWH, 60 Hz refresh rate, 45 cd/ m2 mean luminance, resolution of 800×600 pixels) placed 70 cm from the subject. Cortical hemodynamics in response to full-field, reversing, square wave, radial checkerboard, with abrupt phase inversion (spatial frequency: 0.33 cycles per degree, temporal frequency: 4 Hz; Fig. 3.2) was evaluated in the time domain by measuring the peak-to-baseline amplitude and latency. To increase the entertaining quality of the experimental paradigm, the checkerboard pattern was blended with an isoluminant commercial cartoon, thus serving as a reference baseline. To have an internal control with blank stimulation, we used an event-related design consisting of: (i) 20 cycles of 5 s stimulus 'on' (reversing checkerboard, 90% of contrast) followed by 10 s stimulus 'off' and (ii) 20 cycles of 5 s mock stimulus 'on' (reversing checkerboard, 0% of contrast) followed by 10 s stimulus 'off'. The two stimulating conditions were pseudo randomly interleaved for each subject during the recording. Blocks lasted 10 min and participants were permitted to take rest between recordings. Figure 3.2 shows a schematic representation of the experimental procedure. Visual events were synchronized with NIRSport over wireless LAN communication through the Python version of LabStreamingLayer (https://github.com/sccn/labstreaminglayer).



Figure 3.2 Visual stimulation and experimental paradigm. A-B Representative frame of baseline grey screen (upper row, stimulus 'off') and reversing checkerboard (lower row, stimulus 'on') for RS condition (**A**) and for Cartoon condition (**B**). **C** Representative HDR in the occipital cortex during the stimulus 'off' (upper row) and stimulus 'on' activation phase (lower row) according to the output of nirsLAB software. **D** Experimental protocol showing that the cycles of visual stimulation were structured in blocks of 40 trials (20 trials with the reversing checkerboard and 20 trials with the 'mock' stimulus) for a total duration of 10 min.

3.3 Signal processing and statistical analysis

Data preprocessing was completed using the Homer3 package (v1.29.8) in MATLAB (R2020a). A specific processing stream tailored on recent guidelines for the analysis of fNIRS data has been created (Di Lorenzo et al., 2019).

First, the raw intensity data were converted to optical density (OD) changes (hmR_Intensity2OD). Then, channels showing very high or low optical intensity were excluded from further analyses using the function hmR_PruneChannels (dRange: 5e-04-1e +00, SNRthresh: 2; SDrange: 0.0–45.0).

Motion artifacts were then removed by a multistep rejection protocol. After a step of motion artifact detection using the hmR_MotionArtifactByChannel function (tMotion: 1.0, tMask: 1.0; STDEVthresh 13.0; AMPthresh: 0.40), motion correction was performed with a combination of Spline interpolation (hmR_MotionCorrectSpline, p: 0.99) and Wavelet filtering (hmR_MotionCorrectWavelet, iqr: 0.80) functions. The remaining uncorrected motion artifacts were identified using the hmR_MotionArtifactByChannel function.

A band-pass filter (hmR_BandpassFilt: Bandpass_Filter_OpticalDensity, hpf:0.01, lpf:0.50) was applied to decrease slow drifts and high-frequency noise, and the OD data were converted to Hb concentration changes using the modified Beer-Lambert law (hmR_OD2Conc, ppf: 1.0 1.0 1.0).

Finally, trials of each subject were block-averaged for every stimulating condition and channel (hmR_BlockAvg: Block_Average_on_Concentration_Data, trange: -2.0 20.0). The resulting txt file was imported in Python as a Pandas DataFrame.

For each subject, only the channel with the highest response amplitude was analyzed. The peak response was identified as the maximal value for THb and OHb and the minimum value for DHb. A grand average was taken of the 20 trials of data per stimulating condition and differences between visual stimulation 'on' (reversing checkerboard) and 'off' (blank) were compared. All data were normalized with respect to the blank-evoked response using a subtraction method. Statistical analysis was carried out using pingouin Python library (Vallat, 2018) and the following functions: pingouin.ttest (paired and two-sided t-test), pingouin.rm_anova (one-way repeated measures ANOVA), pingouin.pairwise_ttests (post hoc analysis), pingouin.pairwise_corr (Spearman correlation), pingouin.regplot (Linear regression). T-test, ANOVA, and post hoc analysis were used to assess differences in fNIRS peak responses following different stimulating conditions, whereas we tested the interaction between the amplitude of fNIRS measures and selected clinical metrics with Spearman correlation.

40

3.4 Best practices for fNIRS experimental procedure

In order to achieve uniformity and quality of performance, while reducing bias, we defined a laboratory standard operating procedure (SOP) for visual fNIRS recordings. Indeed, a set of step-by-step instructions aims to define timeline of procedure, from preparing setting to recording, outlining specific rules within operators has been defined.

First of all, clinical staff manage recruitment phase to evaluate inclusion and exclusion criteria of eligible subjects and explaining exhaustively the procedure (a simple tutorial video of fNIRS recording is available to be shared with families); a previous interaction will be important to predict for each subject potential issues that might be encountered during the session and to make more efficient setting preparation phase (i.e., measuring in advance head circumference in order to choose the proper cap size). The technical staff periodically checked (once a month) the proper functioning of hardware and software (basically simulating an experiment) according to a specific calendar held in the room. Any issues (and possibly relative solutions) have been described in a dedicated journal. The technical staff also charged the fNIRS device periodically (needbased). The best choice is to perform the recordings with the device in battery mode (no wire). During experimental session two operators are required to be present (one member of the clinical staff and one member of the technical staff). The technical staff mainly managed the stimulation/acquisition procedures, the clinical staff was in charge of interactions with the subject and the parent (welcoming, general supervision of subject behavior). In the laboratory, after welcoming and brief introduction of the technical staff, the subject was invited to sit in the recording chair by the clinical staff (properly placed proper position around 70cm from the stimulating screen, the position is indicated by a white tape on the floor). For fNIRS recordings in children, the parent sit in a chair next to the subject. The clinical staff placed the textile cap on the head of the subject and startd the calibration process in order to preliminary verify level quality of each channel (Max tolerance for evoked recordings: 4 red flags/22 channels). fNIRS signal were recorded during consecutive trials of visually-evoked stimuli lasting about 10 minutes (with a resting time of about 5 minutes between each other required by the subject), tailored on study population as detailed in the next paragraphs. Operators are required to observe the global behavior of the subject (head movement, major movements, anxiety, etc.) and observing the hemodynamic signal in order to eventually note potential problems.

3.5 Recruitment and ethics statement

The whole research project was approved by Comitato Etico Pediatrico Regione Toscana Meyer (authorization number 201/2019 and 119/2021). Each one of the studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. All the procedures on human participants were conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was obtained from all adult participants and from the parents of each child, authorizing the use of anonymized data for research purposes. Assent was also obtained from the children involved in the study before participation.

Adults and typically developed children of control group were recruited as volunteers. Patients that usually are referred to IRCCS Stella Maris Foundation (SMF) to perform scheduled clinical visits were contextually evaluated for inclusion in the fNIRS study by referral clinicians. Indeed, the institute SMF has a robust experience in the field of neurodevelopmental disorders, including ASD and CTD thus facilitating the recruitment phase of this project, but also providing a set of clinical outcomes for the correlational analysis with fNIRS features.

In order to disseminate the project and promote the recruitment tailored communication material has been created and shared also with families' associations. Notably, in order to optimize compliance during experimental protocol, a wide online survey about the habits of children with CTD was conducted. Moreover, in parallel preliminary results of the project have been shared in academic field in order to raise awareness of the research topic (i.e., through the attendance at national and international conferences).

4 Results

4.1 Standardizing the technique in normative populations

4.1.1 Feasibility and validity of fNIRS visual HDR in adults and children with typical development

A sample of 40 adult subjects (20 women, age: 31.05 ± 3.94 (SD) years) and 19 children (5 girls, age: 7.20 ± 3.01 (SD) years) was recruited. All participants reported normal or corrected-to-normal vision and had no diagnosed neuropsychiatric condition. Adults and children underwent different experimental plans detailed in Fig. 4.1. Recordings in adult participants consisted in two type of experiments.

Experiment 1 (exp1) aimed to understand whether a reliable hemodynamic signal could be recorded in response to the radial checkerboard merged with an animated cartoon. Thus, exp1 started with a 10 min recording using the reversing checkerboard as stimulus 'on' and the gray screen as stimulus 'off' (RS condition), and continued with the vision of two different blended animated cartoons, where the stimulus 'on' was a merge between the reversing checkerboard and the movie, whereas the stimulus 'off' was the gray-scale isoluminant cartoon (CF and CC conditions; Fig. 4.1 panel A). The main purpose of using a cartoon was to increase the entertaining value of visual stimulation. The checkerboard presentation was needed to ensure a standardized episodic stimulation allowing event-related transient analysis. We decided to merge the checkerboard with the movie in order to avoid possibly distracting interruptions of the storyline and to facilitate screen fixation in children. The merging procedure was achieved using Python3 OpenCV (Gollapudi, 2019). Each pixel of the animated cartoon with the same color of the corresponding pixel of the radial checkerboard was inverted, to obtain a fully visible image. The result was a RS with an overlayed cartoon frame. The first cartoon was randomly selected by the operator within a group of 4 ("The Lion King", "The Powerpuff Girls", "Peppa Pig" or "Kung Fu Panda"; cartoon fixed, CF), whereas the latter was a free choice of the subject (cartoon chosen, CC).

Experiment 2 (exp2), aiming to dissect the contribution of baseline contrast to visual responses, was performed in a subset of adult participants (n = 15). Exp2 consisted of

43

3 consecutive recordings of a CF ("Peppa Pig"; "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes) with the modulation of the baseline contrast (20, 40, and 80%; Fig. 4.1, panel B). The presentation order of different contrast levels was randomly shuffled.

In children, a single experiment was conducted (Fig. 4.1 panel C, exp1). To confirm that the baseline movie and its contrast do not affect the emergence of visual responses to the radial checkerboard, hemodynamic signals in response to 2 different blended RS-animated cartoons freely decided by the subject was recorded: cartoon 1 was presented at both low (20%, L1) and high (80%, H1) contrast, while only low contrast was recorded for cartoon 2 (L2; Fig. 4.1 panel C). In this case, the presentation order was decided by the child, in order to maximize subject compliance.

During the experimental session, data were quickly analyzed and visualized using nirsLAB software (NIRx Medical Technologies LLC, v2019.4) in order to immediately monitor quality of recording or early detect and fix potential issues.

In order to investigate the potential correlation between fNIRS signal and broad behavioral dimensions in the general population, we asked to participants to fill out the Autism-Spectrum Questionnaire (AQ), respectively the adult and the child form (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001; Auyeung et al., 2008). The AQ questionnaire is a 50-items 4-point Likert scale self-administered report (or parent-report for child version), validated for the Italian version (Ruta et al., 2012), consisting of descriptive statements assessing personal preferences and typical behavior. The items are grouped in five subscales: Social Skills, Communication, Attention to Details, Imagination, and Attention Switching. For adult version, total scores range between 0 and 50 (0–10 for each subscale), with 32 being the clinical threshold for autism risk (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001). For child version, total scores range between 0 and 150 (0–30 for each subscale), with 76 being the clinical threshold for autism risk (Auyeung et al., 2008).

44

A. Adults: experiment 1



Block 1 (RS)



Block 2 (CF)



Block 3 (CC)

B. Adults: experiment 2



Block 1 (20%)



Block 2 (40%)



Block 3 (80%)

C. Children: experiment 1



Figure 4.1 Experimental plan. For each block (i.e., stimulating conditions), representative frames of baseline screen (stimulus 'off', up) and reversing checkerboard (stimulus 'on', low) were shown. **A** Experiment 1 for adult participants consisted in three 10-minute blocks, starting with the vision of the classic radial checkerboard-on-grey stimulus (RS condition) and continuing with two different RS blended animated cartoons. The first cartoon was decided by the operator within a group of 4 (CF condition), whereas the latter was a free choice of the subject (CC condition). **B** Experiment 2 was carried out in a subset of adult participants (n = 15), watching the same «Peppa Pig» episodes with the modulation of the baseline contrast (20%, 40&, 80%). **C** Children were recorded during the vision of 2 different blended animated cartoons freely selected by the subject: cartoon 1 was shown at both low (20%, L1) and high (80%, H1) contrast, while only low contrast was used for cartoon 2 (L2).

An example of experimental visual stimulation protocol could be find online at the following link: https://drive.google.com/file/d/17PxviLZWhNHiuBtGPh41Icmlwp7xaYaw/view?usp=share_link

4.1.1.1 An animated cartoon-based stimulus is able to evoke visual responses in the adult cortex

The cortical HDR function elicited by a reversing checkerboard pattern was measured in the adult population (see Tab. 1 for demographics in the Appendix). In agreement with the previous literature (Chen et al., 2015), a significant activation of the occipital cortex in response to different conditions of visual stimulation was obtained. Grand averages across adult participants of THb, OHb and DHb concentration changes are plotted in Fig. 4.2. Using a classic mean luminance gray screen as baseline, statistical analysis revealed a significant main effect of the checkerboard stimulus (S) with respect to the blank presentation for all HDR metrics (Radial Stimulus condition, RS, Fig 4.2, panel A). As previously discussed, to increase the entertaining quality of the experimental paradigm, an innovative visual stimulation protocol blending the checkerboard pattern with an isoluminant commercial cartoon, thus serving as a reference baseline, was devised. A significant increase of THb and OHb, with a parallel reduction of DHb concentration in response to S appearance was found, reflecting the functional activation of visual areas in this condition as well. The cortical response was independent from the cartoon employed as baseline: a comparable HDR, indeed, was clearly elicited both when the baseline movie was fixed a priori by the experimenter (Cartoon Fixed condition, CF; Fig. 4.2, panel B) and when the cartoon was freely selected by the tested subject (Cartoon Chosen condition, CC; Fig. 4.2, panel C). The amplitude of cortical activation was only slightly smaller in response to CF and CC, indicating that the quality of visual input does not quantitatively impact HDR, with the range of OHb and DHb fluctuations being significantly lower with respect to that evoked by RS (Fig. 4.2, panel D). Within the CF condition, it can be assumed that the baseline cartoon does not affect the degree of visual activation: indeed, a comparable modification of THb, OHb, and DHb concentrations was recorded using the four cartoons chosen a priori. Furthermore, no differences of visually evoked responses were detected modulating the contrast level of the baseline cartoon: THb, OHb, and DHb fluctuations, indeed, were comparable when a fixed baseline cartoon was presented at 20, 40, or 80% of contrast (Fig. 4.2, panel E). Finally, the response latency was homogenous in RS, CF, and CC conditions (Fig. 4.3, panel A).

Altogether, these results demonstrate the validity of this innovative stimulation procedure to evoke a significant and reliable response in the occipital cortex preserving inter-subject variability.



Figure 4.2 HDR was reliably detected in adults using both RS and blended RS-animated cartoons. For all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^4. A On the left, the average time course for THb (green line), OHb (red line), and DHb (blue line) in response to the Radial Simulus (RS) are shown. The three plots on the right depict the average peak response to the stimulus (S) vs. the blank (B) across all the adult subjects. The stimulus-driven signal was significantly different from the blank for all the conditions (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). **B** Same plots as above for the Cartoon Fixed (CF) condition. On the left, the average time course of the evoked HDR is depicted. On the right, the graphs showed that the HDR amplitude was significantly higher in response to S with respect to B for THb, OHb, and DHb (t-test, p < 0.001for all comparisons). C Cartoon Chosen (CC) condition. Also in this case the S elicited significantly higher responses for THb, OHb, and DHb with respect to the B (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). D Comparison among different visual stimulations shows no differences in evoked amplitudes for THb, whereas a significant difference was detected between RS and CC for OHb (One-way RM ANOVA, p < 0.01, post hoc BHFDR, RS vs. CC p < 0.01) and a more complex pattern of differences emerged for DHb (One-way RM ANOVA, p < 0.001, post hoc BH-FDR, RS vs. CF p < 0.01, RS vs. CC p < 0.001, CF vs CC p < 0.05). **E** No differences of evoked responses were detected with different contrast levels of the baseline movie (L: low, M: medium, H: high).. Data are shown as average \pm s.e.m. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.



Figure 4.3 Latency of HDR in adults and children. A The analysis of latency to peak in adults revealed no differences among RS, CF and CC. **B** In children, no differences of HDR latencies were found between H1 and L1, whereas a significantly higher latency of DHb was detected between H1 and L2 (One-way RM ANOVA, p < 0.05, post hoc BH-FDR H1 vs. L2 p < 0.05). **C** No significant differences were identified for latencies between adults and children. * p < 0.05.

4.1.1.2 The cartoon-based paradigm was reliable in eliciting cortical responses in children

We measured cortical responses in typically developing children (see Tab. 2 for demographics in the Appendix) viewing the radial checkerboard blended with the animated cartoon consistently with experimental pipeline represented in Figure 4.1 (panel C). We compared three different conditions: each subject, indeed, was asked to select two cartoons of their preference for the baseline, and the first choice was employed for the low-contrast (cartoon 1 low contrast, 20%, L1) and the high-contrast (cartoon 1 high contrast, 80%, H1) stimulation, while the second cartoon was presented only at low-contrast (cartoon 2 low contrast, L2).

Our data showed a significant activation of the visual cortex, with a prominent change of THb, OHb, and DHb concentration in response to the S with respect to the blank for all conditions tested (Fig. 4.4, panel A–C). The amplitude of elicited cortical responses was comparable following L1, H1, and L2 (Fig. 4.4, panel D), proving that the HDR is independent from the cartoon narrative selected for the baseline and the contrast level of baseline presentation in children as well. Small and not statistically significant differences were observed for response latency among L1, H1, and L2 conditions (Fig. 4.3, panel B).

In agreement with previous literature (Ward et al., 2015), a maturational trend of cortical responsivity was recognized, with children showing significantly higher HDR amplitude with respect to adult subjects (Fig. 4.4, panel E).

These findings establish a novel method for measuring visually evoked cortical activity with fNIRS that ensures an elevated compliance of young subjects and high-quality reliability of measurements, suggesting a valuable tool for studying visual cortical processing in typically developing children, but also in clinically relevant populations.



Figure 4.4 HDR signal was reliably detected in children using blended RS-animated cartoons with low and high contrast. For all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^4. A On the left, the average time course for THb (green line), OHb (red line), and DHb (blue line) in response to high-contrast (80%) blended RS-animated cartoons is shown (CH1). On the right, the graphs represent the average amplitude of the evoked HDR following the stimulus (S) and the blank (B). A significantly different response to S with respect to the B was detectable for all metrics (ttest, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). **B** The average time course of the HDR to low-contrast (20%) blended RS-animated cartoons is shown (CL1). Here, the baseline cartoon is the same as the experiment described in panel (A), but a different part of the movie was used. THb, OHb, and DHb showed a significantly higher deflection to the S with respect to the B in this condition as well (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). **C** On the left, the average time course of HDR following the second low-contrast blended RS-animated cartoon selected by the subject (CL2). On the right, the analysis of peak amplitudes revealed significantly higher responses during S compared to B for THb, OHb, and DHb (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). **D** Comparison among different contrast levels of the baseline cartoon revealed no differences in the amplitude of HDR. E Response amplitudes for low-contrast blended RS-animated cartoons in adults and children. More specifically, we compared the response to CF condition of adults with CL1 condition for children. The average amplitude of HDR was significantly higher in children (t-test, p < 0.001 for THb, p < 0.05 for OHb, p < 0.01 for DHb). Data are shown as average ± s.e.m. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

4.1.1.3 The amplitude of fNIRS hemodynamic response in the visual cortex unmasks autistic traits in typically developing children

Moreover, a significant negative correlation of HDR amplitude with AQ score in children was found. Despite no effects detectable in adults (Fig. 4.5 A-C), the amplitude of visual responses was highly correlated to AQ scores in children (Fig. 4.5 D-E). Consistent with a recent work (Xu et al., 2020), the correlation was specific for THb, with higher AQ score being associated with a lower amplitude of THb visually-evoked signals. Interestingly, HDR amplitude was especially linked to social and communication autistic traits (Fig. 4.5 panel A-D): indeed, assessing separately the five AQ subscales (Auyeung et al., 2008) a significant correlation of THb and OHb with the Social Skills subscale was found (AQ_S, Fig. 4.6 panel A-B), while only THb modulation was related to the Communication subscale (AQ_C, Fig. 4.6 panel C-D) and no significant interaction was observed testing the other three AQ subscales (AQ_A, AQ_D, and AQ_I; Fig. A1 in the Appendix). Given the reliability across different visual tasks (L1 and H1), the strongest interaction was between THb and AQ_S (Fig. 4.6 panel A-B, THb metric shown in green).

These data were published in February 2022 on Translational Psychiatry 12(1): 53 (Mazziotti et al., 2022).



Figure 4.5 Correlation between HDR and AQ scores. For all panels, values in the x-axis are multiplied for 10^4. The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. Correlation between HDR and AQ scores in adults, for amplitudes obtained using RS (**A**), CF (**B**), and CC (**C**). No significant correlations were detected for adult participants. Correlation between HDR and AQ scores in children, for amplitudes obtained using high (**D**), and low (**E**) contrast baseline cartoons. A significant correlation was found between THb and AQ scores for both high and low-contrast blended stimuli ($\rho < 0.05$ for both cases). Circles are individual values; lines represent the linear regression model fit and shaded regions are the 95% CI.



Figure 4.6 between HDR and AQ subscales score (panel C-F) in children. For all panels, values in the x-axis are multiplied for 10⁴. The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. Circles are individual values; lines represent the linear regression model fit and shaded regions are the 95% CI. Correlations between HDR and AQ Social Skills (AQ_S) subscale are shown in panel A-B. A significant correlation between THb and AQ_S was detected using both high- (A) and low-contrast blended stimuli (B; p < 0.05 for both cases). In addition, OHb recorded in response to the low-contrast blended RS-cartoon was significantly correlated with AQ_S (C; p < 0.05). Correlations between HDR and AQ Communication (AQ_C) subscale are shown in panel **C-D**. THb amplitude in response to the high-contrast blended RS-cartoon was significantly correlated with AQ_C (p < 0.05).

4.1.2 Assessing test-retest reliability of fNIRS vHDR paradigm

Reliability and reproducibility of a specific experimental paradigm are two critical features for establishing the validity of a biomarker.

Previous reports have already suggested that fNIRS could be a cortical be a reliable measure of visual (Plichta et al., 2006), motor (Strangman et al., 2006) and executive (Schecklmann et al., 2008) functions. These studied have been conducted mainly in adult populations but more sporadically test – retest validity of fNIRS measurement was assessed also in younger cohorts (Blasi et al., 2014).

Here, a systematic evaluation of rest-retest reliability of fNIRS vHDR metric has been performed in order to confirm its potential validity as a biomarker in NDDs cohort.

Fifty healthy volunteers (25 women and 25 men) performed two recording sessions for the present study. Three intervals to assess test-retest reliability of our measurement were established: a short-term repetition of fNIRS recording (intrasession: timepoint 0-1) and two longer retest intervals (intersession: timepoint 0-2 at 2 months and timepoint 0-3 at around 2 years). Thus, all participants (50 subjects) were recorded twice in a single session to evaluate short-term test-retest reliability of fNIRS vHDR metric. Moreover, 23 adult subjects of our first cohort (12 women; mean age at enrollment date: 31.6 ± 4.1 (SD) years) were recruited for long-term test-retest reliability and 27 new healthy adult volunteers for mid-term test-retest reliability (13 women; mean age: 30.4 ± 4.3 (SD) years). Even if a negligible circadian variability of fNIRS response in primary visual cortices has been previously reported (Schroeter et al., 2006), suggesting the robustness of this stimulus-driven metric, all the recording were conducted almost at the same hour in the afternoon.

All subjects had normal or corrected to normal vision. No subject had a known history of any neurologic or psychiatric disorder. All subjects were informed about the nature of the experiment as well as the operating mode of the NIRS instrument, before giving their written informed consent. Recordings were conducted as described in Material and Methods section. The visual stimulation was realized in the event-related paradigm previously described by presenting a simple checkerboard blended with an isoluminant commercial cartoon presented at 20% contrast level. Consistently with previous experience, number of trials was set to n = 20. Data analysis was conducted with pipeline described in Material and Methods.

The groupwise intrasession reliability of fNIRS measurement resulted to be very good for all the three metrics: indeed, the correlation between the amplitude recorded at

54

timepoint 0 and the signal magnitude at timepoint 1 was highly significant both for average values (Fig. 4.7) and best channel values (Fig. 4.8) for all the metrics.

In addition we examined the data calculating the mean difference for each pair of recordings. Despite a slight tendency to increased OHb amplitude, our analysis highlighed that this difference is centered on the zero level for intrasession interval (Fig. 4.9). Similar results were found analyzing both average values (Fig. 4.9, panel A-C) and best channel values (Fig. 4.9, panel D-F) of vHDR metrics (THb, OHb, DHb).

More importantly, the same consistency of results was found for intersession reliability of vHDR signal. Even if the analysis of the timepoint 0-2 is still not complete and data shown are only preliminary, the correlation of signal amplitudes across the timepoint 0-3 (Figures 4.7 and 4.8) was significant for the metrics tested, mostly for best channel analysis. Furthermore, the longitudinal analysis of paired differences did not highlight any significant discrepancy of signal distribution, neither for the 0-2 timepoint nor for the 0-3 interval for all the metrics tested (Figures 4.10 and 4.11).

Altogether these results demonstrated the high intra-subject accordance between two different vHDR measurements supporting the strong reliability of this approach.



Figure 4.7 Scatter plot of the average values at group-level for THb (panel A), OHb (panel B) and DHb (panel C) at three subsequent timepoints. For all panels, values in the x-axis and in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^5. The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. Circles are the average values of vHDR for each subject. Lines represent the linear regression model fit and shaded regions are the 95% CI. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001. Timepoint 0-1 refers to short, intrasession timepoint. Timepoint 0-2 refers to middle (2 months interval) intersession timepoint. Timepoint 0-3 refers to long (2 years interval) intersession timepoint. Analysis of timepoint 0-2 is preliminary, including only 16 upon 27 subjects recruited.



Figure 4.8 Scatter plot of the best channel values for THb (panel A), OHb (panel B) and DHb (panel C) at three subsequent timepoints. For all panels, values in the x-axis and in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^4. The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. Circles are the value of vHDR in the higher amplitude channel (best) for each subject. Lines represent the linear regression model fit and shaded regions are the 95% CI. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001. Timepoint 0-1 refers to short, intrasession timepoint. Timepoint 0-2 refers to middle (2 months interval) intersession timepoint. Timepoint 0-3 refers to long (2 years interval) intersession timepoint. Analysis of timepoint 0-2 is preliminary, including only 16 upon 27 subjects recruited.



Figure 4.9 Intrasession test-retest reliability of vHDR metrics measured by paired men difference: average (panel A-C) and best channel (panel D-F) value. For all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^5. Red dots represent average value (panel A-C) or best channel value (panel D-F) of vHDR magnitude values for each subject in the two intrasession recordings. The p-value of the two sided permutation t-test is reported for each metric on the right of the panel (CI 95%).



Figure 4.10 Intersession test-retest reliability of vHDR measured by paired men difference at midterm timepoint (time interval of 2 months): average (panel A-C) and best channel value (panel D-F) of all metrics. For all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^5. Longitudinal representation of paired mean difference between average value (panel A-C) or best channel value (panel D-F) of vHDR magnitude values for each subject within intersession interval 0-2. The p-value of the two sided permutation t-test is reported for each metric on the right of the panel (CI 95%). Analysis of timepoint 0-2 is preliminary, including only 16 upon 27 subjects recruited.



Figure 4.11 Intersession test-retest reliability of vHDR measured by paired men difference at long timepoint (time interval of 2 years): average (panel A-C) and best channel value (panel D-F) of all metrics. For all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied for 10^5. Longitudinal representation of paired mean difference between average value (panel A-C) or best channel value (panel D-F) of vHDR magnitude values for each subject within intersession interval 0-3. The p-value of the two sided permutation t-test is reported for each metric on the right of the panel (CI 95%).

4.2 Testing feasibility and validity of fNIRS vHDR as a brain biomarker in NDDs

4.2.1 Exploring Autism spectrum Disorder (ASD) in preschooler females

Starting from previously described experience on TD children, showing the correlation of the metric with broad autistic behavioral traits, it has been hypothesized that visuallyevoked hemodynamic responses (vHDR) might represent a quantitative and unbiased biomarker to assist the clinical assessment of ASD. In particular, female phenotype was studied, since it is more challenging in clinical practice due to the well-known camouflaging issue (Young et al., 2018).

Thus, a pilot study on a cohort of high-functioning preschooler females with idiopathic ASD (fASD) was performed with these specific aims:

- to test the feasibility of fNIRS vHDR procedure previously described in this clinical population;
- to investigate the validity of vHDR as an effective tool to discriminate between TD preschool girls and sex/age matched peers with ASD;
- to explore whether vHDR metrics correlate with clinical variables.

A cross-sectional observational monocentric study was conducted at the IRCCS Stella Maris Foundation Hospital (Pisa, Italy). A total of 12 females with idiopathic ASD (fASD: median age 4.5 years; SD: 1.17) and 13 sex/age-matched control typically developed peers (TD: median age 4.86; SD: 1.17) were recruited. Established inclusion criteria were: (1) a diagnosis of ASD according to the DSM-5 criteria (APA, 2013); (2) agerange: between 3 and 6 years; (3) female gender; (4) a negative history for premature birth or neurologic complications possibly related to delivery; and (5) non-verbal IQ \geq 70. An ASD diagnosis was performed by a multidisciplinary team according to good clinical practice. The demographic characteristics and clinical features of experimental cohorts are listed in Tables 3 and 4 in the Appendix section. Clinical measures such as the Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule (ADOS) (Lord et al., 2016), the children's version of the Autism Questionnaire (AQ) (Ruta et al., 2012), and a cognitive and adaptive profile were systematically collected for each subject using internationally validated scales/interviews, such as the Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence (Freeman, 2013) and the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales-II-VABS (Sparrow et al., 2012).

4.2.1.1 A cartoon-based stimulus is able to evoke reliable responses in the visual cortex of fASD

Cortical vHDR elicited by a reversing checkerboard pattern merged with an isoluminant commercial cartoon (contrast level 0.8) was recorded by fNIRS device. In agreement with previous results, we obtained a significant activation of the occipital cortex in response to the stimulus in TD children. Grand averages across control participants for Total Hb (THb), Oxygenated Hb (OHb) and Deoxygenated Hb (DHb) concentration changes are plotted in Figures 4.12 and 4.13, showing the average amplitude of signals recorded in the different channels of the montage (Fig. 4.12, panel A–C) and the amplitude of the channel with the highest response within subjects (Fig. 4.13, panel A–C), respectively. A statistical analysis revealed a significant main effect of the checkerboard stimulus (S) with respect to the presentation of the mock stimulus (MS) for all HDR metrics. Importantly, a significant vHDR, with a prominent change of THb, OHb, and DHb concentration in response to the S with respect to the blank for all conditions tested, was also present in the fASD cohort (Fig. 4.12, panel D–F and Fig. 4.13, panel D–F).



Figure 4.12 vHDR was reliably detected in TD (panel A-C) and fASD (panel D-F) participants: average across channels. In all panels, the values in the y-axis are multiplied by 105. (A-C) On the left, the average time course for THb (A), OHb (B), and DHb (C) in response to the radial stimulus (Stim, green line) or the mock stimulus (Mock, grey line) are shown for TD participants. The plots on the right depict the average peak response to Stim vs. Mock across all the subjects. The stimulus-driven signal was significantly higher with respect to the mock condition for all of the metrics (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). (D-F) The same plots as above for the fASD subjects. The stimulus-evoked vHDR was significantly higher with respect to the mock condition (t-test, p < 0.001 for THb and OHb, p < 0.01 for DHb). The orange lines are the Hb responses to the stimulus in fASD plots. The data are expressed as mean sem. ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.



Figure 4.13 vHDR was reliably detected in TD (panel A-C) and fASD (panel D-F) participants: best channel. In all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied by 104. (A-C) On the left, the average time course for THb (A), OHb (B), and DHb (C) in response to the radial stimulus (Stim, green line) or the mock stimulus (Mock, grey line) are shown for TD participants. Plots on the right depict the average peak response to Stim vs. Mock across all of the subjects. The stimulus-driven signal was significantly higher with respect to the mock condition for all the metrics (t-test, p < 0.001 for all comparisons). (D-F) The same plots as above, for fASD subjects. The stimulus-evoked vHDR was also significantly higher with respect to the mock condition in this case (t-test, p < 0.001 for THb and OHb, p < 0.01 for DHb). The orange lines are the Hb responses to the stimulus in fASD plots. The data are expressed as mean sem.** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001.

Altogether, these results reinforce the validity of the cartoon-based stimulating procedure to evoke a reliable activation of the visual cortex, showing that this method is also suitable to study visual cortical processing in a clinically relevant population, such as fASD children.

4.2.1.2 The amplitude of visual cortical responses is significantly lower in the fASD cohort

The level of cortical activation in response to the stimulus in TD subjects and fASD children was compared, showing that the average amplitude of cortical changes of OHb concentrations was significantly lower in fASD children with respect to the control agematched cohort (Fig. 4.14, panel B). No significant difference was detected between the two groups for THb and DHb (Fig. 4.14, panel A,C); only a trend towards reduction can be observed for THb of fASD (Fig. 4.14, panel A). Totally comparable data were found in the analysis of the channel with the highest response (Fig. 4.14, panel D–F). In contrast, no change in the signal latency was present between the two groups, except for an increased latency of the DHb peak in fASD (Fig. A2 in the Appendix section).



Figure 4.14 Comparison of vHDR between TD and fASD participants. In panels (A–C), values in the y-axis are multiplied by 105; in panels (D–F), values in the y-axis are multiplied by 10^4. (A–C) Average peak responses across all channels of THb (**A**), OHb (**B**) and DHb (**C**) in TD (green lines) and fASD participants (orange lines). An amplitude analysis revealed that the OHb peak was significantly lower in the fASD population than in controls (t-test, p < 0.05). (D–F) Peak response of THb (**D**), OHb (**E**) and DHb (**F**) in the best channel for TD (green lines) and fASD subjects (orange lines). The OHb peak was significantly lower in the fASD population than in the controls (t-test, p < 0.01). Data are expressed as mean sem. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

4.2.1.3 Atypical lateralization of visual responses in the ASD cohort

Since one of the main features of autism neurobiology is the lack of lateralization in brain circuits at a structural and functional level (Floris et al., 2021), visual cortical responses recorded in the right and left hemispheres for all participants has been compared. Notably, average OHb signal detected in the channels mounted upon the right visual cortex of TD children was significantly higher compared to the response recorded through the corresponding optodes of the left hemisphere (Fig. 4.15, panel A,B). Conversely, no interhemispheric difference was detected in the cortical activation of fASD children (Fig. 4.15, panel A,B).

Moreover, the amplitude of signals recorded in the right channels of the TD group was higher with respect to the responses detected in fASD children in the same channels (Fig. 4.15, panel B). Thus, a laterality index (LI), i.e., the ratio between the average responses in homologous channels between the two hemispheres, was calculated. LI was shifted towards the right hemisphere in TD children, thus strengthening the concept of right predominance in the physiological processing of visual stimuli (Fig. 4.15, panel C). Contrastingly, the occipital cortex of fASD children shows a high variability of LI, with some individuals minimally lateralized, some others left-shifted, and a group of right-lateralized as TD controls (Fig. 4.15, panel A–C). Along the same lines, the distribution of vHDR amplitudes recorded in the two hemispheres highlighted a right bias in TD compared to fASD participants (Fig. 4.15, panel D). Finally, a significant correlation between the dimension of OHb signals in the two hemispheres was found in the control group only (Fig. 4.15, panel E).



Figure 4.15 Atypical lateralization in visual processing in fASD children. (**A**) Average time course of OHb response in the left (dashed lines) and the right (solid lines) hemispheres for TD (green) and fASD subjects (orange line). The y-axis values are multiplied by 105. (**B**) A comparison between the amplitude of the OHb signal in the left and the right hemisphere showed a significant reduction of right responses in the fASD group (a Two-Way mixed model ANOVA, p < 0.01). The y-axis values are multiplied by 105. (**C**) The laterality index, indicating a lower rightward asymmetry of visual processing in fASD subjects compared to TD children (t-test, p < 0.05). (**D**) A scatterplot illustrating the distribution of average OHb amplitudes recorded in the right and the left hemisphere in TD and fASD subjects, showing a pronounced rightward bias only in TD children. (**E**) A linear regression analysis shows a significant correlation in the amplitude of average OHb responses evoked in the right and the left hemispheres for TD participants (Spearman correlation, p < 0.001). This correlation is absent in ASD patients (p = 0.965). The (rho) index indicates the Spearman correlation value. In panels (D,E), the y-axis and x-axis values are multiplied by 105. Levels of statistical significance are shown as ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001.

4.2.1.4 vHDR might be predictive of symptom severity in fASD

Alongside fNIRS recording, a detailed clinical assessment of fASD children was collected, with a range of parent questionnaires and interviews, in addition to direct evaluation (AQ, VABS, ADOS and non-verbal IQ), in order to provide a robust description of the population studied. Thus, the potential correlation between different vHDR metrics and the clinical measures collected was investigated. Although no statistically significant effects were detectable, a trend towards a positive correlation between the amplitude of OHb changes and VABS total score was observed (Fig. A3 in the Appendix section). In addition, the level of response lateralization was negatively correlated to the autistic traits of fASD subjects: indeed, the higher the AQ score revealed by the questionnaire, the lower the extent of the right bias in vHDR (Fig. 4.16, panel A). Despite the low numerosity of the sample, we also observed a trend suggesting a possible correlation between LI and the VABS score, indicating that this vHDR measure might also predict the impairment of adaptive functioning (Fig. 4.16, panel B). No correlation was found with ADOS scores and non-verbal IQ (Fig. 4.16, panel C,D).



Figure 4.16 Correlation between the laterality index and clinical scores in fASD children. The (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. The correlation between Laterality Index (LI) and AQ score (**A**), VABS score (**B**), ADOS score (**C**) and non-verbal IQ score (**D**). A positive correlation between variables was detected for the AQ score (Spearman correlation, * p < 0.05).

These data were published in June 2023 on Brain Sciences, 13(6): 951 (Scaffei et al., 2023).

4.2.2 Rare metabolic diseases: creatine transporter deficiency (CTD) syndrome

Since feasibility of fNIRS vHDR protocol has been successfully proven in a cohort of fASD, the potential usefulness of this experimental paradigm has been tested in patients with Creatine Transporter Deficiency (CTD), a rare metabolic disorder leading to a complex neurodevelopmental disorder (OMIM 300352). CTD is an X-linked inherited metabolic disorder caused by mutation of SLC6A8 gene that affects cellular uptake of creatine in the brain, thus, causing low cerebral level of this metabolite. CTD presents typically with early intellectual disability, speech and language delay, epilepsy and autistic-like behavior (van De Kamp et al., 2014). Although rare, CTD currently represents the second most common cause of X-linked intellectual disabilities and, thus, a major burden for health care and for patient quality of life. Despite growing knowledge about the natural history of CTD and the role of Cr in energy metabolism, little is known about the brain alterations underlying the impairment of multiple behavioral and cognitive domains in CTD. Since fNIRS signal strongly relies on neurovascular coupling, this technique might reveal a non-canonical HDR due to atypical metabolism and related altered brain activity in CTD.

Thus, a cross-sectional study on the cohort of CTD patients was performed with two specific aims:

- to test the feasibility of fNIRS vHDR procedure previously described in this clinical population;
- to investigate the validity of vHDR as an effective tool to discriminate between CTD and sex/age matched TD peers.

This observational monocentric study was conducted at the IRCCS Stella Maris Foundation (SMF) Hospital (Pisa, Italy) between November 2020 and October 2023. A total of 5 CTD patients who were referred to SMF for clinical visits (mean age 12.2 <u>+</u> 6.2 (SD) years) and 5 sex/age-matched control were recruited. Demographics and clinical features of experimental cohort are listed in Tables 5 and 6 in Appendix section. Clinical measures such as linguistic, cognitive and adaptive level, assessed using internationally validated scales/interviews, i.e., Wechsler Scales of Intelligence (Freeman, 2013) and Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales-II-VABS (Sparrow et al., 2012), were systematically collected for each subject. Clinical relevant data were collected as well, especially regarding frequent CTD comorbidities such as epilepsy. CTD and TD group underwent a single fNIRS recording session according to vHDR protocol previously discussed; only the cartoon-based paradigm was used, repeated twice if

tolerated by the subject in order to increase number of effective trials. Since behavioral phenotype makes a priori this cohort challenging to record, level of compliance during the experiment were qualitatively monitored by the operator, in order to verify mostly fixation of the screen by patients. Data analysis pipeline is consistent with procedure detailed in previous chapter (Material and Methods). Due to the rarity of disorder, patients' age was extremely heterogeneous (age range: 6-22 years). Since vHDR is strongly affected by age in term of range of variability of response amplitude, a division in two more homogeneous group has been done to analyze data (children vs adult group).

4.2.2.1 fNIRS vHDR recording was feasible in all participants and the cartoonbased stimulus evoked reliable responses in CTD patients

The cortical vHDR elicited by a reversing checkerboard pattern merged with an isoluminant commercial cartoon (contrast level 80%) was recorded in the occipital cortex, obtaining a significant activation of the ROIs in response to the stimulus in TD controls and in CTD patients. Grand averages across all participants for Total Hb (THb), Oxygenated Hb, (OHb) and Deoxygenated Hb (DHb) concentration changes in best channel are plotted in Figures 4.17 and 4.18. Preliminary analysis revealed a tendency towards main effect of the checkerboard stimulus (S) with respect to the presentation of the mock stimulus (blank) for all HDR metrics both in control group and, importantly, also in the CTD cohort (Figures 4.17 and 4.18, panel A–B).

4.2.2.1 CTD patients show a higher vHDR compared to age-matched controls

The level of cortical activation in response to the stimulus in TD controls and CTD patients was compared for all the metrics. Preliminary results suggest that CTD patients show a trend towards higher amplitude of hemodynamic response with respect to agematched controls for OHb and THb metrics. Despite the small sample size, this pattern is more consistent in younger subject (Fig. 4.19, panel A), while a wider variability of vHDR was observed in adult CTD (Fig. 19, panel B).



Figure 4.17 vHDR was reliably detected in TD (A row) and CTD (B row) children: best channel. In all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied by 10^5. (**A**) starting from the left, the average time course for THb, OHb and DHb in response to the radial stimulus (Stim, green line) or the mock stimulus (Mock, grey line) are shown for TD participants. Plots on the right depict the average peak response to Stim vs. Mock across all of the subjects. The stimulus-driven signal was higher with respect to the mock condition for all the metrics (**B**) The same plots as above, for CTD patients. Red lines are the Hb responses to the stimulus in CTD. The stimulus-evoked vHDR was consistently higher with respect to the mock condition for all metrics.



Figure 4.18 vHDR was reliably detected in TD (A row) and CTD (B row) adults: best channel. In all panels, values in the y-axis are multiplied by 10^5. (**A**) starting from the left, the average time course for THb, OHb and DHb in response to the radial stimulus (Stim, green line) or the mock stimulus (Mock, grey line) are shown for TD participants. Plots on the right depict the average peak response to Stim vs. Mock across all of the subjects. The stimulus-driven signal was significantly higher with respect to the mock condition for all the metrics. (**B**) The same plots as above, for CTD patients. The stimulus-evoked vHDR was also consistently higher with respect to the mock condition in this case. The red lines are the Hb responses to the stimulus in CTD plots.



Figure 4.19 Comparison of vHDR between TD and CTD patients: children (A row) and adult (B row) subgroups. In all panels values in the y-axis are multiplied by 10^5. Peak response of THb, OHb and DHb in the best channel for TD (green lines) and CTD subjects (red lines) both for children (A row) and for adults (B row). Small sample size prevents to apply a statistical analysis of vHDR amplitude between the two experimental group. Preliminary results suggest that CTD patients show a trend towards higher amplitude of hemodynamic response with respect to age-matched TD for OHb and THb metrics, more consistently in children subgroup.

5 Discussion

As previously said, compared to other neuroimaging techniques, such as EEG, MEG and fMRI, fNIRS stands out for its portability, non-invasiveness, experimental flexibility to more ecological setting but also reliability of signal and robustness to motion artifacts. FNIRS has already been proven to be reliable in the study of neurodevelopmental trajectories (Vanderwert & Nelson, 2014) and for investigation of sensory perception, both in adults and children. Several studies focused on the characteristics of primary cortical activation, mostly in visual and auditory perception (for the latter see review of van de Rijt et al., 2018). Interestingly, given its methodological advantages, fNIRS could be promising to explore brain activation in response to simple trigger and to study such "low-level" visual cortical activation as prototype a of brain response, since early developmental age too. Previous findings outlined a detectable specific occipital response to simple visual stimulus (like checkerboard pattern) starting from 3 monthsold infants (Watanabe et al., 2008) and further exploration on early visual processing came from the study of photostimulation of infants during natural sleep, revealing noncanonical HDR with decreasing of OHb and THb and increasing of DHb (Kusaka et al., 2004). Interestingly, to date, no studies applying a visually-task-related fNIRS design in clinical pediatric samples are reported in literature.

Here, an extensive discussion of results obtained through the investigation of vHDR protocol in several experimental cohorts, ranging from normative population to clinical samples, will be outlined in order to focus both on methodology's strengths and on its limitations to further address.

Starting from the normative population, hemodynamic responses in the occipital cortex while subjects (adults and children) viewed a reversing checkerboard pattern on a gray isoluminant baseline or the same stimulus blended with a commercial animated cartoon was recorded and analyzed. In all participants, the patterned stimulus elicited a significant change of cortical Hb (upwards for THb and OHb, down for DHb) independently from the reference baseline, while no response was detected following blank presentation. Interestingly, the level of occipital cortex activation did not depend on either the movie selected as reference baseline or the baseline contrast, with only a slight reduction of OHb and DHb change in response to the stimulus blended to animated cartoons with respect to the classic RS condition.

To confirm the reliability of this novel visual-evoked metric, a test-retest study has been performed in a cohort of 50 healthy adult subjects at three different timepoints, finding

a good concordance of measurements at group- and individual level analysis. These data reinforce published findings reporting the robustness of visual paradigm in functional neuroimaging studies (Zafar et al., 2015) and in particular in fNIRS studies. Accordingly, previous research addressed the crucial issue of temporal stability of visually-evoked HDR looking at circadian variability (Schroeter et al., 2005) or longer retest interval (Plichta et al., 2006) highlighting the coherence of the measurement, even if with some limitations. Indeed, the results of both reports relied on smaller sample size (respectively 11 and 10 subjects) compared to our cohort. Moreover, Plichta et al. analyzed the reproducibility of fNIRS recordings at three weeks, while the main strength of our study is that we tested longer intersession reliability of fNIRS visual metrics, with a maximum interval period of 2 years. Interestingly, a gender bias in neuroimaging study due to fluctuating hormonal levels of females (Maki & Resnick, 2001) has been raised in some reports as a possible confounding variable in circadian fNIRS HDR measurements (Schroeter et al., 2005) and deserve further investigations. It is worth noting, however, that this variability could be neglected in the studies of Xlinked disorders such as CTD because heterozygous females commonly show only a mild phenotype. In addition, the impact of habits, like caffeine or nicotine consumption (Domino et al., 2000; Jacobsen et al., 2002) and sleep deprivation (Soshi et al., 2010), on HDR might be systematically explored in future fNIRS research. Even if our testretest study on fNIRS vHDR paradigm adds an important contribution to the field, the reliability of this metric needs to be further investigated particularly in developmental cohort.

Altogether, these data demonstrate the validity and reliability of this novel cartoonbased visual stimulation in eliciting cortical responses. Even if our test-retest study was limited to adult subjects and further investigation in developmental cohorts is needed, the high entertaining and ecological value of this approach might be promising for studying cortical function in children with an atypical neurodevelopment, commonly showing a reduced compliance in experimental environments.

The putative correlation between fNIRS HDR metric and some behavioral variables has been tested in the normative population in order to further explore the sensitivity of this procedure of capturing phenotype clinical variability in clinical populations. The magnitude of HDR modulation, and in particular of THb, resulted to be inversely correlated with AQ scores in children: indeed, the higher were the AQ scores of subjects the lower was the amplitude of THb response to visual stimulation. Since levels of THb reflect the relative changes of both OHb and DHb concentrations over the visual cortex,

72
it could be surmised that the better correlation of THb with AQ scores might be due to a combinatory effect of OHb and DHb variables. Correlations were statistically relevant for AQ total score as well as for AQ "Social Skills" and "Communication" subscales. It is not surprising considering that Social Skills" and "Communication" are the subscales with higher construct validity performance in differentiating individuals with or without ASD (Lundqvist & Lindner, 2017). These data suggest that visually-evoked fNIRS responses are able to capture the dimension of autistic traits in the general young population. Interestingly, these findings are consistent with previous studies showing that cortical activation measured with fNIRS and the performance in visual psychophysics negatively reflected ASD symptom severity (Simmons et al., 2009; Seymour et al., 2019; Noel et al., 2021). A tentative explanation of reduced HDR in children with stronger autistic traits might be found in the difference of perceptual styles in the general population (Turi et al., 2018). Moreover, growing evidence show that ASD is also associated with early abnormalities in multiple sensory processing, fluctuating between hyper- and hypo-sensitivity to sensory stimuli, including visual domain (Simmons et al., 2009). Sensory symptoms usually anticipate signs of social impairment and are correlated with the severity of the disorder, at least in children (Kern et al., 2006).

Based on these premises, the feasibility and validity of vHDR metric has been explored in a cohort of preschooler females with high-functioning ASD.

A first major finding of this study is that in all participants, including fASD children, the patterned stimulus was reliable in eliciting a significant change of cortical Hb with respect to the reference baseline, while no response was detected following the presentation of a mock, grey stimulus. Consistently with previous studies of evoked vHDR (Chen et al, 2019), a rise in total (THb) and oxygenated Hb (OHb), with a parallel negative change in the concentration of reduced Hb (DHb) was observed. Interestingly, the same results emerged from the analysis of the average amplitude of Hb concentration across the 22 channels of the occipital montage, and from the evaluation of the Hb peaks measured in the channel with the highest vHDR within each recording (best channel). These data demonstrate the feasibility of this novel fNIRS procedure in an ASD population with a sub-optimal compliance to structured experimental environments, further establishing the high entertaining value of this cartoon-based stimulation and the ecological merits of the fNIRS tool, according to previous application of technique in the study of atypical brain development (Vanderwert & Nelson, 2014).

73

Furthermore, the magnitude of vHDR modulation, and in particular of OHb, was significantly different between the two groups studied, with a lower amplitude of OHb response in the visual cortex of fASD subjects compared to TD controls. The selective change of OHb is not surprising considering that this metric is the most commonly used according to literature for investigating evoked HDR in the ASD brain, especially in preschool age (Conti et al., 2022). Moreover, these further findings are also consistent with previous results showing that the activation of cortical circuits negatively reflects autistic traits in TD children, but also ASD symptom severity in the clinical population (Robertson & Baron-Cohen, 2017). These data suggest, for the first time, that vHDR might represent a novel non-invasive, analytical tool to support the diagnostic assessment in females, overcoming the subjective bias intrinsically affecting clinical observations and parental interviews. This provides an important contribution to the field, considering that girls and women with ASD are mostly underserved by diagnostic (Lockwood et al., 2021), making this clinical population criteria strongly underrepresented in autism research (D'Mello et al., 2022). Although previous fNIRS studies on preschoolers suggested the validity of this technique to discriminate between ASD subjects and TD, using both task-evoked and resting-state experimental designs (recently reviewed by Conti et al., 2022), the innovative value of vHDR approach relies on the elevated accessibility of visually evoked recordings requiring a relatively low commitment of tested subjects and allowing an easy extraction of fundamental metrics. Interestingly, reduced vHDR in fASD children might be ascribable to the differences of visual sensory processing repeatedly observed in the ASD brain both at behavioral and neurophysiological level. Indeed, a peculiarity in the visual behavior in terms of abnormal eye contact and the atypical processing of faces as well as distinctive perceptual styles, has been frequently reported in ASD, and emerged during the first year of life (Apicella et al, 2020). Moreover, the well-known preference for focusing on local details vs. the global stimulus configuration in ASD subjects (Van der Hallen et al., 2015) and, thus, the locally centered perception on the screen, might determine a less effective activation of the cortical circuits. In agreement with these data, neuroimaging evidence indicates a low-processing-level origin of autistic sensory traits, showing atypical responses in primary cortices across sensory modalities, increased inter-trial variability of the evoked responses, and cortical ultrastructural abnormalities, involving also occipital areas (Robertson & Baron-Cohen, 2017). Therefore, alterations of the neurochemical and functional architecture of neural circuits detected in the ASD visual cortex might also explain the weaker vHDR in response to the cartoon-based

stimulation, although a possible contribution of top-down attentional modulation of sensory signaling could not be excluded. Moreover, while extensive research has focused on the neural abnormalities underlying ASD, the role of brain vasculature in this disorder remains poorly understood, underestimating neurovascular crosstalk in this population. Recent research addressed extensively this topic (recently revised by Wang et al., 2023) highlighting several possible cerebrovascular deficits in ASD such as impaired cerebral blood supply, altered blood-brain barrier structure and permeability, and atypical neurovascular unit leading to reduced HDR in this population. Interestingly, also at preclinical level, a vascular link in ASD has been established, finding early dysfunction of endothelial cells and impaired endothelium dependent vasodilation in a mouse model of 16p11.2 deletion (Oullette et al., 2020), thus making HDR analysis a promising horizon in the study of ASD pathophysiology.

Furthermore, regarding lateralization of the vHDR, a predominant activation of the right hemisphere in the control group has been noted. A rightward asymmetry of typical visual processing is consistent with the previous literature: indeed, a number of studies combining multiple experimental approaches reported a right hemispheric dominance in typical subjects (Jonas et al., 2014). In contrast, any specific lateralization pattern in the recordings of fASD children has been noted. Accordingly, the loss of brain asymmetry has been widely reported in ASD studies between several developmental age, either in language-related circuits (Conti et al., 2016) or in non-verbal networks, including both higher cognitive domains and primary sensorimotor function (Floris et al., 2021). In the context of the visual system, it is also worth noting that binocular rivalry is weaker in autism (Robertson et al., 2013), and this deficit might be due to the reduced GABAergic action in the visual cortex (Robertson et al., 2016), but also to the reduced strength of interhemispheric connections between the left and right visual cortex (Girault et al., 2022). Despite the fact that previous fNIRS studies focusing on hemispheric asymmetry in ASD individuals reported controversial evidence (Doi et al., 2017) these data reinforce the notion of atypical lateralization in the ASD brain, expanding the assumed topology to other cortical regions than core-symptom ones (Floris et al., 2021). Moreover, since occipital activity is strongly modulated by internal brain states and attentional networks (Reynolds & Chelazzi, 2004), it might be hypothesized that the asymmetry of typical visual dynamics might arise by a leftward bias of attentional systems to the left hemifield (Hougaard et al., 2015), and that the atypical lateralization in the ASD brain reflects at least in part a centralized deficit in domain-general cognitive processes.

Interestingly, the laterality index (LI) is predictive of the severity of autistic traits measured by AQ children's version. Indeed, the higher were the AQ scores of subjects, the weaker was the rightward asymmetry of visual responses, suggesting that this measure within an individual is able to capture the level of autistic phenotype in the fASD cohort. In contrast, no significant correlation between LI and the other observational scales evaluating the extent of the behavioral impairment of subjects was found. This is likely due to the low numerosity of the experimental sample, but also to the relatively high homogeneity of the cohort and, thus, the respective clinical measures' output range. Indeed, the fASD cohort in study presented a restricted variation range in the ADOS-2 comparison score, suggesting a similar inter-subject symptom severity. Moreover, a correlation trend between LI and the VABS score was detected, even if not statistically significant, suggesting that VABS scores were more capable than non-verbal IQ scores in terms of highlighting the functional impairment of fASD children according to previous studies on this topic (Alvares et al., 2020).

Finally, in order to verify the feasibility and the validity of vHDR paradigm in a rare metabolic disorder where neurovascular coupling might be primarily affected, visuallyevoked fNIRS recordings were collected in a sample of patients with CTD.

Preliminary results suggest that CTD patients show a higher amplitude of hemodynamic response with respect to age-matched controls. Due to the rarity of disease, clinical studies in this cohort are to date sparse, focused primarily on clinical phenotyping rather than to more specific functional neuroimaging approach, making, thus, comparison with literature evidence less informative. Interestingly, preclinical studies have been recently boosted by the availability of several murine model of the disease such as whole-body rodent models (Skelton et al., 2011; Baroncelli et al., 2014) and brain- and cell-specific conditional mouse models (Baroncelli et al., 2016; Udobi et al., 2018). Indeed, animal models are an excellent tool to dissect the disease pathogenetic mechanisms and drive the preclinical development of therapeutics. Moreover, murine models available to date have proven to reliably reproduce cognitive, behavioral and functional phenotypes of CTD disease (for an updated review on this topic see Ghirardini et al., 2021), thus allowing the study of quantitative biomarkers of translational value for monitoring disease progression and response to therapeutics in preclinical, and hopefully clinical, studies. Indeed, available clinical data from neurochemical assays and from Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy, even if crucial to lead diagnostic pipeline, are not directly correlated with symptoms' severity and, thus, are less informative on disease progression (van de Kamp et al., 2014). In this field interesting evidence came from

76

the recent study of novel functional biomarkers for CTD, suitable both in rodents and in patients, such as alteration of cortical oscillations at EEG spectral analysis or, notably, atypical neurovascular coupling detected by cortical optical imaging (Mazziotti et al., 2020). Since the main sources of fNIRS signal superimpose with those of optical imaging (Zepeda et al., 2004), our preliminary findings in CTD patients support previous evidence from preclinical model of disease highlighting an increased HDR in response to cortical activation in the knockout mouse (Mazziotti et al., 2020). At the neurobiological level it is not surprising that the forced metabolic phenotype and the augmented oxidative stress in CTD brain (Giusti et al., 2019) could dynamically upregulate the cerebral blood flow stimulating vasodilation (Watts et al., 2018). However, the low numerosity of the sample still prevented to draw final conclusion about the validity of fNIRS biomarker in CTD and to explore correlation between HDR and symptom severity.

However, some limitations need to be discussed and addressed in future studies.

First, the small size of clinical samples recruited to date, both for fASD and CTD cohort. Moreover, although fASD cohort was very well characterized, we need to acknowledge that it represents a very selected sample in terms of both gender and developmental quotient, thus preventing too much generalization of our results to the whole ASD population. Further studies in a larger cohort of subjects, including children with a larger range of symptom severity, are needed in order to assess the sensitivity and the specificity of this analytical tool. In particular, it would also be interesting to study the amplitude of fNIRS signals in age-matched males in order to explore potential influence of gender-dimension on the results. Indeed, ASD females have previously shown a distinctive pattern of resting state EEG activity compared to ASD males (Neuhaus et al., 2021), suggesting that research concerning biomarkers needs to consider the moderation of the biological sex. Small sample size is a crucial issue for rare genetic disease like CTD. In this scenario, natural history studies are increasingly needed, also to detect reliable phenotyping biomarkers and monitor disease progression. To overcome this point a multisite European study (EJP RD JTC 2022, IMAGINER PROJECT) involving Stella Maris Institute and the Hospital of Lyon has been already started with expected total recruitment of 20 subjects and shared outcome measures, like clinical and neurobehavioral endpoints.

Secondly, a more extensive evaluation of reliability of vHDR metric will be assessed in order to explore, and potentially minimize, confounding effect linked to circadian variability of signal and arousal level of subject.

6 Conclusion and future perspectives

To conclude, the potential feasibility and validity of a novel visually-evoked fNIRS paradigm (vHDR) has been systematically explored and confirmed in several experimental cohorts, including both TD population and, importantly, clinical samples of under investigated NDDs. Indeed, sensitivity and reliability of vHDR metrics have been robustly assessed in a large cohort of adults and children, even optimizing the methodology in order to ensure maximal compliance to experimental setting for its application in NDDs. Then, two pilot cross-sectional studies were conducted on a cohort of fASD preschoolers and on a group of CTD patients comparing fNIRS response with age and sex-matched controls. Results suggested significantly different vHDR dynamics in these two clinical cohorts, reinforcing the concept of fNIRS as a valuable biomarker in NDDs. Even if both these pilot studies included small samples of subjects, evidence about the potential of vHDR fNIRS protocol set the background for the replication of this novel paradigm in a larger cohort of children with NDDs. Indeed, for ASD group, a wider sample, including children with a larger range of symptom severity as well as male subjects is needed to further assess the accuracy of this analytical tool and the validity of LI measurement. Similarly, for CTD cohort further evidence is needed to establish the robustness of this biomarker, hopefully reproducing results in a multisite study, thus overcoming difficulty in recruitment due to the rarity of disease. Moreover, in order to establish the specificity of vHDR as a valuable biomarker the comparison with other complex NDDs, such as X-linked ID (in particular Fragile X Syndrome) or Angelman Syndrome is ongoing.

Thus, the use of vHDR as a biomarker of brain function might significantly optimize clinical diagnosis and follow-up of under investigated NDDs, thus, providing, a reliable and unbiased measure to track atypical developmental trajectories and supporting, in combination with behavioral testing, the evaluation of tailored intervention strategies and the study of drug efficacy in clinical trials.

Abbreviations

AD: Alzheimer Disease ADHD: Attention Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder ADOS: Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule AQ: Autism Questionnaire ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder BD: block design BOLD: Blood Oxygen Level Dependent CC: cartoon chosen condition CF: cartoon fixed condition **CTD:** Creatine Transporter Deficiency CW: Continuous Wave DHb: deoxygenated hemoglobin EEG: electroencephalography EF: executive functions ERD: Event-related Design fASD: females with autism spectrum disorder FC: functional connectivity fMRI: functional magnetic resonance imaging fNIRS: functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy FR: Frequency-Resolved HDR: hemodynamic response HRF: hemodynamic Response Function **ID:** Intellectual Disability IFG: inferior frontal gyrus IOS: intrinsic optical signal IPL: inferior parietal lobe M1: primary motor cortex MCI: Mild cognitive impairment MEG: magnetoencephalography MNS: mirror neuron system MS: Multiple Sclerosis NDDs: Neurodevelopmental Disorders OHb: oxygenated hemoglobin

PD: Parkinson Disease PFC: prefrontal cortex ROI: region of interest RS: Radial Stimulus condition SNR: signal to noise ratio STS: superior temporal sulcus TBI: Traumatic Brain Injury TD: typical development THb: total hemoglobin TPJ: temporoparietal junction TR: Time-Resolved VABS: Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales VFT: verbal fluency task vHDR: visual-evoked hemodynamic response WM: working memory WSCT: Wisconsin Card Sorting Test

Appendix

ID	Age	Gender	Head	Сар	AQ	AQ_S	AQ_C	AQ_A	AQ_D	AQ_I	CF	СС
A1	29	F	57	56	11	0	1	7	1	2	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
A2	36	F	56	56	17	0	0	6	9	2	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	The Aristocats Walt Disney Productions,1970
A3	35	М	57	56	17	3	3	5	0	6	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Aladdin Walt Disney Pictures,1992
A4	28	F	57	56	3	0	0	1	1	1	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017
A5	25	F	57	56	19	4	1	7	6	1	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions, 1961
A6	35	F	57	56	15	4	2	4	5	0	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017
A7	29	F	57	56	11	0	2	5	3	1	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions, 1961
A8	30	F	56	56	13	0	2	4	5	2	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Wall-E Disney-Pixar, 2008
A9	29	F	59	56	7	1	1	3	2	0	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
A10	29	м	58	56	12	1	1	5	4	1	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	Aladdin Walt Disney Pictures,1992
A11	27	М	56.5	56	17	2	3	5	4	3	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions,1961
A12	30	F	56	56	9	1	2	2	3	1	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015
A13	29	м	57	56	14	1	3	6	2	2	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	Wall-E Disney-Pixar, 2008
A14	36	м	58.5	56	19	2	2	5	7	3	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions,1961
A15	36	М	57	56	16	4	1	4	5	2	Peppa Pig	Aladdin Walt Disney Pictures,1992

												"Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	
	416	29	F	54	56	22	1	3	9	7	2	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	The Rescuers Walt Disney Productions, 1977
	417	28	F	58.5	56	7	1	0	2	1	3	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions, 1961
	418	29	F	55	56	12	0	1	5	5	1	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	Peter Pan Walt Disney Productions,1953
	419	34	М	60	56	19	6	2	5	5	1	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	SpongeBob S12E01 "FarmerBob", Nickelodeon Animation Studio, 2018
	420	26	М	58	56	10	3	0	5	2	0	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015
	421	36	F	56	56	15	1	2	2	7	3	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015
	422	30	М	60.5	56	19	1	2	6	4	6	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures, 1994	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
	423	26	F	56	56	12	0	1	5	6	0	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	Wall-E Disney-Pixar, 2008
	424	32	М	60.5	56	7	0	1	5	0	1	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Aladdin Walt Disney Pictures,1992
	425	34	F	56	56	10	1	1	4	2	2	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures1994	Beauty and the Beast Walt Disney Pictures, 1994
	426	29	F	57	56	32	6	5	8	9	4	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	The Aristocats Walt Disney Productions, 1970
	427	31	М	59	56	32	10	6	6	2	8	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017
	428	39	F	57	56	21	2	4	4	8	3	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	Lady Oscar, "A Funeral Bell Tolls in the Twilight" episode, Discotek Media, 1980
	429	29	М	57	56	6	0	0	2	2	2	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017
	430	29	М	57	56	17	3	2	5	6	1	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
	431	36	м	59.5	56	12	0	0	6	4	2	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions,1963
	432	27	м	59	56	12	1	2	5	2	2	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	The Aristocats Walt Disney Productions,1970
	433	40	м	57	56	13	2	3	1	6	1	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017
1													

_													
	A34	31	F	55	56	15	1	1	4	4	5	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
	A35	27	м	56.5	56	19	6	2	4	7	0	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013
	A36	30	м	58	56	14	5	1	3	4	1	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	Wall-E Disney-Pixar, 2008
	A37	25	М	58	56	29	6	8	6	7	2	Peppa Pig "Hide-and-seek", "Fly the kite", "Polly parrot" episodes, Entertainment One, 2004	Wall-E Disney-Pixar, 2008
	A38	31	м	57.5	56	10	0	1	5	3	1	Kung Fu Panda DreamWorks Animation, 2008	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015
	A39	38	м	57.5	56	25	2	4	6	8	5	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994	The Sword in the Stone Walt Disney Productions, 1963
	A40	33	F	57.5	56	13	0	0	3	10	0	The Powerpuff Girls special episode "Twas the Fight Before Christmas", Cartoon Network Studios, 2003	Beauty and the Beast Walt Disney Pictures, 1994

Table 1 Demographic characteristics of adult subjects.

Age (years), gender, head circumference (head, cm), cap size (cm), total AQ score (AQ), AQ subscale scores (AQ_S, AQ_C, AQ_A, AQ_D, AQ_I) and the movies used for visual stimulation (CF and CC according to the experimental protocol) are listed for each participant. For movies, production company, release date, and episode title are indicated as well.

ID	Age	Gender	Head	Сар	AQ	AQ-S	AQ_	AQ_	AQ_	AQ_I	C1 (L1 and H1)	C2 (L2)
B1	5	М	51.5	52	21	1	4	7	5	4	Uncle Grandpa S3E04 "Uncle Easter", Cartoon Network Studios, 2016	Teen Titans Go! To the Movies Warner Bros. Animation, 2018
В2	5	Μ	51	52	32	6	7	3	10	6	Wile E. Coyote & Road Runner "Coyote falls", ""Fur of flying" and "Rabid rider" episodes, Acme Corporation, 2010	ABCs song Little Baby Bum - Nursery Rhymes & Kids Songs youtube channel, 2014
В3	13	М	57	56	26	6	3	4	7	6	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017	Futurama, S7E01 "The Bots and the Bees", Comedy Central, 2012
B4	12	М	56	56	44	8	8	11	13	4	The Incredibles Disney-Pixar, 2004	Wile E. Coyote & Road Runner "Coyote falls", ""Fur of flying" and "Rabid rider" episodes, Acme Corporation, 2010
В5	12	М	56	56	25	1	4	10	0	10	Big Hero 6 Walt Disney Pictures, 2014	The Amazing World of Gumball S01E01 "The DVD", Cartoon Network Development Studio Europe, 2011
B6	6	F	53	52	17	1	1	4	8	3	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015	Floopaloo S1E22 "Squirrel for a Day", Marc du Pontavice, 2012
В7	7	М	53	52	24	2	4	1	12	5	The Chipmunks "Bye, George" episode, DIC Entertainment, 1989	Floopaloo S1E22 "Squirrel for a Day", Marc du Pontavice, 2012
B8	4	F	50.5	52	38	6	11	7	11	3	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	Bolt Walt Disney Pictures, 2008
В9	4	М	52	52	42	1	11	11	13	6	Spider-Man: Into the Spider-Verse Columbia Pictures, 2018	Bolt Walt Disney Pictures, 2008
B10	4	М	51	52	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	Cars Walt Disney Pictures, 2006	Thomas & Friends "Diesel and the duckling" episode, Mattel, 2019
B11	9	F	54	56	28	2	6	3	13	4	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017	Zig & Sharko S01E28 "Moby Zig", Xilam Animation, 2010
B12	8	М	54.5	56	26	4	5	5	4	8	Beauty and the Beast Walt Disney Pictures, 1994	Ice Age Blue Sky Studios, 2002
B13	4	М	53	56	44	11	9	8	9	7	Finding Nemo Disney-Pixar 2003	101 Dalmatians Walt Disney Productions,1961
B14	6	М	53	52	36	5	2	3	19	7	Trolls DreamWorks Animation, 2016	Curious George S1E03 "Zeros to Donuts", Universal Anim. Studios, 2006
B15	7	М	51.5	52	49	12	8	10	9	10	Cars Walt Disney Pictures, 2006	Pup Academy S1E02"Tell Us About Your Human Day", AirBud Ent, 2019
B16	10	F	55	56	48	9	9	10	10	10	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	Descendants Disney Channel Original Productions, 2015
B17	10	М	54	56	40	9	5	7	13	6	The Simpsons S29E02 "Springfield Splendor", 20th Television, 2017	Uncle Grandpa S3E04 "Uncle Easter", Cartoon Network Studios, 2016
B18	4	F	49.5	52	19	2	3	5	6	3	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	Bing S1E06 "Smoothie",Tandem Films&Digitales Studios, 2014
B19	7	M	54	56	19	2	3	5	6	3	Ranger Rob S1E12 "Big Stink in Big Sky Park" Nelvana Enterprises Inc, 2016	Arex&Vastatore "Casket of fear" episode from YouTube Channel, 2021

Table 2 Demographic characteristics of children. Age (years), gender, head circumference (head, cm), cap size (cm), total AQ score (AQ), AQ subscale scores (AQ_S, AQ_C, AQ_A, AQ_D, AQ_I), and the movies used for visual stimulation (C1 and C2 according to the experimental protocol) are listed for each participant. For movies, production company, release date, and episode title are indicated as well.



Figure A1 Correlation between HDR and AQ subscales in children. For all panels, values in the x-axis are multiplied for 10^{4} . The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. No significant correlation was present Between THb, OHb, DHb metrics and Attention Switching (A,B), Imagination (C,D) and Attention to Detail (E,F) AQ subscales.

ID	Age	Gender	Head	Cap size	Cartoon selected
A1	4	F	49	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013
A2	5	F	50.5	52	The Little Mermaid Walt Disney Pictures, 1989
A3	6	F	53	54	The Chipmunks, S7E04 "Bye, George" MWS and DIC Entertainment
A4	5	F	50.5	52	The Lion King Walt Disney Pictures,1994
A5	4	F	50.5	52	The Chipmunks, S7E04 "Bye, George" MWS and DIC Entertainment
A6	6	F	53	54	SpongeBob, S12E01 "FarmerBob" Nickelodeon Animation
A7	3	F	51	52	The Little Mermaid Walt Disney Pictures,1989
A8	4	F	49.5	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013
A9	6	F	53	54	Inside out Disney-Pixar, 2015
A10	6	F	53	54	The Little Mermaid Walt Disney Pictures, 1989
A11	4	F	41.5	54	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013
A12	6	F	50.5	54	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013
A13	3	F	50	52	The Aristocats Walt Disney Productions,1970

Table 3 Demographic data of the control group. Age (years), gender, head circumference (cm), cap size (cm), and the cartoon used for visual stimulation are listed for each participant (for movies, the production company, release date, and episode title are indicated as well).

ID	Age	Gender	Head	Cap size	Cartoon selected	ADOS TOT	ADOS comp	AQ tot	Nv IQ	Cognitive Scale	VABS tot
В1	4	F	51	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	16	7	53	96	GMDS III	63
B2	5	F	50.5	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	n.a.	n.a.	56	78	Leiter III	74
В3	6	F	53	54	Bing, S1E06 "Smoothie" Tandem Films e Digitales Studios, 2014	14	5	38	98	WPPSI III	80
B4	4	F	51	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	9	5	n.a.	125	Leiter III	96
в5	3	F	48.5	52	Bing, S1E06 "Smoothie" Tandem Films e Digitales Studios, 2014	14	5	48	106	WPPSI III	93
B6	6	F	55	56	Uncle Grandpa, S3E04 "Uncle Easter" Cartoon Network Studios, 2016	12	7	58	108	WISC IV	81
В7	5	F	50	52	The Chipmunks, S7E04 "Bye, George" MWS and DIC Entertainment	9	6	96	87	GMDS III	87
B8	6	F	52	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	11	6	106	117	WPPSI III	85
В9	5	F	51.5	52	Bing, S1E06 "Smoothie" Tandem Films e Digitales Studios, 2014	9	5	53	102	WPPSI III	85
B10	4	F	52	52	Frozen Walt Disney Pictures, 2013	15	5	47	98	GMDS III	n.a.
B11	3	F	53	52	Curious George S1E03 "Zeros to Donuts", Universal Animation Studios, 2006	8	4	33	119	WPPSI III	102
B12	3	F	48.5	52	Masha and the Bear S1E26 "Home" Improvement, Animaccord Animation Studio	11	5	95	110	Leiter III	77

Table 4 Demographic data of the fASD group. Age, gender, head circumference, cap size, and the animated cartoon used for vHDR are listed for each participant. Moreover, clinical variables collected, such as the ADOS total and comparative score, the total AQ score, non-verbal IQ scores, and the VABS total score are listed for each subject. For non-verbal IQ scores, the psychometric scale used is specified: total score for the Leiter III scale; performance score for the WPPSI III scale; Perceptual Reasoning Index for the WISC IV scale; the mean score between "Foundations of learning" and "Eye and hand coordination" areas was used for GMDS III developmental assessment.



Figure A2 Latency of vHDR in TD and fASD subjects. No differences of vHDR latencies were detected for average THb and OHb peaks, whereas a significantly higher latency of DHb was found in fASD children (Two-Way ANOVA, p < 0.05).



Figure A3 Correlation between the amplitude of OHb signals and clinical scores in fASD. The ρ (rho) index in each plot indicates the Spearman correlation value. Correlation between average OHb amplitude and AQ score (**A**), VABS score (**B**), ADOS score (**C**) and non-verbal IQ score (**D**). No significant correlation between variables was detected. The y-axis values are multiplied by 10^5.

Patient ID	Family pedigree	Age at diagnosis (y)	Mutations	MRI	MRS (Brain Cr)	CR/CRN urine	Treatment
CT1	Mother and sister heterozygous	5	c.1631C>T	Normal	Reduced	1.83	Arginine 300 mg/kg/die+valproate Ch 750 mg/die
CT2	De novo	5.6	c.1255-14_1255- 24del	Normal	Reduced	2.24	Arginine 300 mg/Kg/die os
СТЗ	Mother and sister heterozygous	5.5	c.757 G>C	Normal	Reduced	3.08	Arginine 300 mg/Kg/die os
CT4	De novo	18	n.a.	Normal	n.a.	n.a.	None
СТ5	Mother heterozygous	4	c.1271_1291dup	White matter hyperintensity in the posterior regions; thin corpus callosum	Reduced	4,99	Creatine 210 mg/kg/die Arginine 300 mg/kg/die Glicine 150 mg/kg/die Carbamazepine 300mg/die Risperidone 1.25 mg/die

 Table 5 Demographics of CTD cohort: genetic, biochemical and neuroradiological data

Patient ID	Last visit and fNIRS test	Seizures, age at onset	Neurological signs	Cognitive level	Adaptive level	Language	Behavior
CT1	22 у	Generalized T- C drug – reistent 5 yrs	Mild Hypotonia	Moderate ID	Moderate deficit	Severe deficit	Hyperactivity, impulsiveness
CT2	11 y	No epilepsy	/	Mild ID	Mild deficit	Mild deficit	ADHD
СТЗ	17 y	Isolate febrile convulsions, 3 years	Clumsiness	Moderate ID	Mild deficit	Severe deficit with oromotor dispraxia	Autistic-like behavior
CT4	18 y	No epilepsy	/	Mild ID	Borderline adaptive functionning	Mild deficit	Autistic-like behavior
СТ5	6 y	Generalized T- C febrile convulsions 2.5y	Stereotypic movements	Severe ID	Severe deficit	Absent language (isolate words)	Autistic-like behavior, hyperactivity and inattention

Table 6 Demographics of CTD cohort: clinical data

References

Agbangla NF, Audiffren M, Albinet CT. Use of near-infrared spectroscopy in the investigation of brain activation during cognitive aging: A systematic review of an emerging area of research. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2017;38:52-66. Doi:10.1016/j.arr.2017.07.003

Akiyoshi J, Hieda K, Aoki Y, Nagayama H. Frontal brain hypoactivity as a biological substrate of anxiety in patients with panic disorders. Neuropsychobiology. 2003;47(3):165-170. Doi:10.1159/000070587

Alvares GA, Bebbington K, Cleary D, et al. The misnomer of 'high functioning autism': Intelligence is an imprecise predictor of functional abilities at diagnosis. Autism. 2020;24(1):221-232. Doi:10.1177/1362361319852831

Apicella F, Costanzo V, Purpura G. Are early visual behavior impairments involved in the onset of autism spectrum disorders? Insights for early diagnosis and intervention. Eur J Pediatr. 2020;179(2):225-234. Doi:10.1007/s00431-019-03562-x

Arai H, Takano M, Miyakawa K, et al. A quantitative near-infrared spectroscopy study: a decrease in cerebral hemoglobin oxygenation in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Brain Cogn. 2006;61(2):189-194. Doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2005.12.012

Aslin RN. Questioning the questions that have been asked about the infant brain using near-infrared spectroscopy. *Cogn Neuropsychol*. 2012;29(1-2):7-33. Doi:10.1080/02643294.2012.654773

Auyeung B, Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Allison C. The Autism Spectrum Quotient: Children's Version (AQ-Child). J Autism Dev Disord. 2008;38(7):1230-1240. Doi:10.1007/s10803-007-0504-z

Azhari A, Leck WQ, Gabrieli G, et al. Parenting Stress Undermines Mother-Child Brainto-Brain Synchrony: A Hyperscanning Study. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):11407. Published 2019 Aug 6. Doi:10.1038/s41598-019-47810-4

Azhari A, Truzzi A, Neoh MJ, et al. A decade of infant neuroimaging research: What have we learned and where are we going?. *Infant Behav Dev*. 2020;58:101389. Doi:10.1016/j.infbeh.2019.101389

Balconi M, Vanutelli ME. Interbrains cooperation: Hyperscanning and self-perception injointactions.JClinExpNeuropsychol.2017;39(6):607-620.Doi:10.1080/13803395.2016.1253666

Baroncelli L, Alessandri MG, Tola J, et al. A novel mouse model of creatine transporter deficiency. F1000Res. 2014;3:228. Published 2014 Sep 29. doi:10.12688/f1000research.5369.1

Baron-Cohen S, Wheelwright S, Skinner R, Martin J, Clubley E. The autism-spectrum quotient (AQ): evidence from Asperger syndrome/high-functioning autism, males and females, scientists and mathematicians [published correction appears in J Autism Dev Disord 2001 Dec;31(6):603]. J Autism Dev Disord. 2001;31(1):5-17. Doi:10.1023/a:1005653411471

Bauernfeind G, Wriessnegger SC, Haumann S, Lenarz T. Cortical activation patterns to spatially presented pure tone stimuli with different intensities measured by functional near-infrared spectroscopy. Hum Brain Mapp. 2018;39(7):2710-2724. doi:10.1002/hbm.24034

Bhambhani Y, Maikala R, Farag M, Rowland G. Reliability of near-infrared spectroscopy measures of cerebral oxygenation and blood volume during handgrip exercise in nondisabled and traumatic brain-injured subjects. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2006;43(7):845-856. Doi:10.1682/jrrd.2005.09.0151

Beauchamp MS, Beurlot MR, Fava E, et al. The developmental trajectory of brain-scalp distance from birth through childhood: implications for functional neuroimaging. PloS One. 2011;6(9):e24981. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0024981

Bembich S, Morabito G, Simeon V, et al. Venipuncture activates the cerebral cortex in children with intellectual disability. Arch Dis Child. 2021;106(2):167-172. Doi:10.1136/archdischild-2019-318695

Blasi A, Fox S, Everdell N, et al. Investigation of depth dependent changes in cerebral haemodynamics during face perception in infants. *Phys Med Biol*. 2007;52(23):6849-6864. Doi:10.1088/0031-9155/52/23/005

Blasi A, Lloyd-Fox S, Johnson MH, Elwell C. Test-retest reliability of functional near infrared spectroscopy in infants. Neurophotonics. 2014; 1(2): 025005. Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.1.2.025005

Boldin AM, Geiger R, Emberson LL. The emergence of top-down, sensory prediction during learning in infancy: A comparison of full-term and preterm infants. Dev Psychobiol. 2018;60(5):544-556. doi:10.1002/dev.21624

Bonilauri A, Sangiuliano Intra F, Pugnetti L, Baselli G, Baglio F. A Systematic Review of Cerebral Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy in Chronic Neurological Diseases-Actual Applications and Future Perspectives. Diagnostics (Basel). 2020;10(8):581. Published 2020 Aug 12. Doi:10.3390/diagnostics10080581 Bortfeld H, Wruck E, Boas DA. Assessing infants' cortical response to speech using nearinfrared spectroscopy. Neuroimage.2007;34 (1):407-415. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2006.08.010

Braver TS, Cohen JD, Nystrom LE, Jonides J, Smith EE, Noll DC. A parametric study of prefrontal cortex involvement in human working memory. Neuroimage. 1997;5(1):49-62. Doi:10.1006/nimg.1996.0247

Bu L, Wang D, Huo C, Xu G, Li Z, Li J. Effects of poor sleep quality on brain functional connectivity revealed by wavelet-based coherence analysis using NIRS methods in elderly subjects. Neurosci Lett. 2018;668:108-114. Doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2018.01.026

Buccino G, Binkofski F, Fink GR, et al. Action observation activates premotor and parietal areas in a somatotopic manner: an fMRI study. Eur J Neurosci. 2001;13(2):400-404.

Bulgarelli C, Blasi A, Arridge S, et al. Dynamic causal modelling on infant fNIRS data: A validation study on a simultaneously recorded fNIRS-fMRI dataset. Neuroimage. 2018;175:413-424. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.022

Buss AT, Fox N, Boas DA, Spencer JP. Probing the early development of visual working memory capacity with functional near-infrared spectroscopy. Neuroimage. 2014;85 Pt 1(0 1):314-325. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.034

Cai L, Dong Q, Wang M, Niu H. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy evidence for the development of topological asymmetry between hemispheric brain networks from childhood to adulthood. Neurophotonics. 2019;6(2):025005. Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.6.2.025005

Cai L, Okada E, Minagawa Y, Kawaguchi H. Correlating functional near-infrared spectroscopy with underlying cortical regions of 0-, 1-, and 2-year-olds using theoretical light propagation analysis. Neurophotonics. 2021;8(2):025009. Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.8.2.025009

Chen S, Sakatani K, Lichty W, Ning P, Zhao S, Zuo H. Auditory-evoked cerebral oxygenation changes in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of newborn infants monitored by near infrared spectroscopy. Early Hum Dev. 2002;67(1-2):113-121. doi:10.1016/s0378-3782(02)00004-x

Chen LC, Sandmann P, Thorne JD, Herrmann CS, Debener S. Association of Concurrent fNIRS and EEG Signatures in Response to Auditory and Visual Stimuli. Brain Topogr. 2015;28(5):710-725. Doi:10.1007/s10548-015-0424-8

Chock VY, Kwon SH, Ambalavanan N, Batton B, Nelin LD, Chalak LF, Tian L, Van Meurs KP. Cerebral Oxygenation and Autoregulation in Preterm Infants (Early NIRS Study). J

Pediatr. 2020 Dec;227:94-100.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.08.036. Epub 2020 Aug 17. PMID: 32818482.

Condy EE, Miguel HO, Millerhagen J, et al. Characterizing the Action-Observation Network Through Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: A Review. Front Hum Neurosci. 2021;15:627983. Published 2021 Feb 18. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2021.627983

Conti E, Calderoni S, Gaglianese A, et al. Lateralization of Brain Networks and Clinical Severity in Toddlers with Autism Spectrum Disorder: A HARDI Diffusion MRI Study. Autism Res. 2016;9(3):382-392. Doi:10.1002/aur.1533

Conti E, Scaffei E, Bosetti C, et al. Looking for "fNIRS Signature" in Autism Spectrum: A Systematic Review Starting From Preschoolers. Front Neurosci. 2022;16:785993. Published 2022 Mar 2. Doi:10.3389/fnins.2022.785993

Csibra, G., Tucker, L., Johnson, M.H., 2001. Differential frontal cortex activation before anticipatory and reactive saccades in infants. Infancy 2, 159–174.

Cui X, Bray S, Reiss AL. Speeded near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) response detection. *PloS One*. 2010;5(11):e15474. Published 2010 Nov 11. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015474

Czeszumski A, Eustergerling S, Lang A, et al. Hyperscanning: A Valid Method to Study Neural Inter-brain Underpinnings of Social Interaction. Front Hum Neurosci. 2020;14:39. Published 2020 Feb 28. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2020.00039

Dans PW, Foglia SD, Nelson AJ. Data Processing in Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS) Motor Control Research. Brain Sci. 2021 May 9;11(5):606. Doi: 10.3390/brainsci11050606. PMID: 34065136; PMCID: PMC8151801.

Davies DJ, Su Z, Clancy MT, et al. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy in the Monitoring of Adult Traumatic Brain Injury: A Review. *J Neurotrauma*. 2015;32(13):933-941. Doi:10.1089/neu.2014.3748

de Freitas Dotto P, Cavascan NN, Berezovsky A, et al. Sweep visually evoked potentials and visual findings in children with West syndrome. Eur J Paediatr Neurol. 2014;18(2):201-210. Doi:10.1016/j.ejpn.2013.11.008

de Oliveira SR, Machado ACCP, de Paula JJ, Novi SL, Mesquita RC, Miranda DM, Bouzada MCF. Changes of functional response in sensorimotor cortex of preterm and full-term infants during the first year: An fNIRS study. Early Hum Dev. 2019 Jun;133:23-28. Doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.04.007. Epub 2019 Apr 29. PMID: 31048133.

Dieler AC, Tupak SV, Fallgatter AJ. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy for the assessment of speech related tasks. Brain Lang. 2012;121(2):90-109. Doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2011.03.005

Di Lorenzo R, Pirazzoli L, Blasi A, Bulgarelli C, Hakuno Y, Minagawa Y, et al. Recommendations for motion correction of infant fNIRS data applicable to multiple data sets and acquisition systems. Neuroimage. 2019;200:511–27.

D'Mello AM, Frosch IR, Li CE, Cardinaux AL, Gabrieli JDE. Exclusion of females in autism research: Empirical evidence for a "leaky" recruitment-to-research pipeline. Autism Res. 2022;15(10):1929-1940. Doi:10.1002/aur.2795

Doi H, Shinohara K. fNIRS Studies on Hemispheric Asymmetry in Atypical Neural Function in Developmental Disorders. *Front Hum Neurosci*. 2017;11:137. Published 2017 Apr 12. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2017.00137

Domino EF, Minoshima S, Guthrie S, et al. Nicotine effects on regional cerebral blood flow in awake, resting tobacco smokers. Synapse. 2000;38(3):313-321. doi:10.1002/1098-2396(20001201)38:3<313::AID-SYN10>3.0.CO;2-6

Eggebrecht AT, White BR, Ferradal SL, et al. A quantitative spatial comparison of highdensity diffuse optical tomography and fMRI cortical mapping. *Neuroimage*. 2012;61(4):1120-1128. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.124

Ehlis AC, Schneider S, Dresler T, Fallgatter AJ. Application of functional near-infrared spectroscopy in psychiatry. Neuroimage. 2014;85 Pt 1:478-488. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.03.067

Emberson LL, Crosswhite SL, Goodwin JR, Berger AJ, Aslin RN. Isolating the effects of surface vasculature in infant neuroimaging using short-distance optical channels: a combination of local and global effects. Neurophotonics. 2016;3(3):031406. Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.3.3.031406

Emberson LL, Richards JE, Aslin RN. Top-down modulation in the infant brain: Learninginduced expectations rapidly affect the sensory cortex at 6 months. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(31):9585-9590. doi:10.1073/pnas.1510343112

Emberson LL, Boldin AM, Riccio JE, Guillet R, Aslin RN. Deficits in Top-Down Sensory Prediction in Infants At Risk due to Premature Birth. Curr Biol. 2017;27(3):431-436. Doi:10.1016/j.cub.2016.12.028

Farroni T, Chiarelli AM, Lloyd-Fox S, et al. Infant cortex responds to other humans from shortly after birth. Sci Rep. 2013;3:2851. Published 2013 Oct 4. Doi:10.1038/srep02851

Felgerolle C, Hébert B, Ardourel M, et al. Visual Behavior Impairments as an Aberrant Sensory Processing in the Mouse Model of Fragile X Syndrome. Front Behav Neurosci. 2019;13:228. Published 2019 Oct 2. Doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00228 Floris DL, Wolfers T, Zabihi M, et al. Atypical Brain Asymmetry in Autism-A Candidate for Clinically Meaningful Stratification. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging. 2021;6(8):802-812. Doi:10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.08.008

Freeman, S. Wechsler Preschool and Primary Scale of Intelligence; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2013

Friston K. A theory of cortical responses. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2005;360(1456):815-836. doi:10.1098/rstb.2005.1622

Fu X, Richards JE. Investigating developmental changes in scalp-to-cortex correspondence using diffuse optical tomography sensitivity in infancy. Neurophotonics. 2021;8(3):035003. Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.8.3.035003

Fukui Y, Ajichi Y, Okada E. Monte Carlo prediction of near-infrared light propagation in realistic adult and neonatal head models. *Appl Opt.* 2003;42(16):2881-2887. Doi:10.1364/ao.42.002881

Funabiki Y, Murai T, Toichi M. Cortical activation during attention to sound in autismspectrumdisorders.ResDevDisabil.2012;33(2):518-524.Doi:10.1016/j.ridd.2011.10.016

Gagnon L, Cooper RJ, Yücel MA, Perdue KL, Greve DN, Boas DA. Short separation channel location impacts the performance of short channel regression in NIRS. *Neuroimage*. 2012;59(3):2518-2528. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.095

Gallego-Molina NJ, Ortiz A, Martínez-Murcia FJ, Rodríguez-Rodríguez I, Luque JL. Assessing Functional Brain Network Dynamics in Dyslexia from fNIRS Data. Int J Neural Syst. 2023;33(4):2350017. Doi:10.1142/S012906572350017X

Gervain J, Macagno F, Cogoi S, Peña M, Mehler J. The neonate brain detects speech structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(37):14222-14227. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806530105

Gervain J, Mehler J, Werker JF, et al. Near-infrared spectroscopy: a report from the McDonnell infant methodology consortium. Dev Cogn Neurosci. 2011;1(1):22-46. Doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2010.07.004

Ghirardini E, Calugi F, Sagona G, et al. The Role of Preclinical Models in Creatine Transporter Deficiency: Neurobiological Mechanisms, Biomarkers and Therapeutic Development. Genes (Basel). 2021;12(8):1123. Published 2021 Jul 24. Doi:10.3390/genes12081123

Girault JB, Donovan K, Hawks Z, et al. Infant Visual Brain Development and Inherited Genetic Liability in Autism. Am J Psychiatry. 2022;179(8):573-585. Doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.21101002

Giusti L, Molinaro A, Alessandri MG, et al. Brain mitochondrial proteome alteration driven by creatine deficiency suggests novel therapeutic venues for creatine deficiency syndromes.Neuroscience.2019;409:276-289.doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2019.03.030

Gogtay N, Giedd JN, Lusk L, et al. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(21):8174-8179. Doi:10.1073/pnas.0402680101

Grazioli S, Mauri M, Crippa A, et al. Light up ADHD: II. Neuropharmacological effects measured by near infrared spectroscopy: is there a biomarker?. *J Affect Disord*. 2019;244:100-106. Doi:10.1016/j.jad.2018.10.100

Grossmann T, Johnson MH, Lloyd-Fox S, et al. Early cortical specialization for face-toface communication in human infants. Proc Biol Sci. 2008;275(1653):2803-2811. Doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.0986

Grossmann T, Oberecker R, Koch SP, Friederici AD. (a) The developmental origins of voice processing in the human brain. Neuron. 2010;65(6):852-858. Doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.001

Grossmann T, Parise E, Friederici AD. (b) The detection of communicative signals directed at the self in infant prefrontal cortex. Front Hum Neurosci. 2010;4:201. Published 2010 Oct 25. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2010.00201

Grossmann T, Cross ES, Ticini LF, Daum MM. Action observation in the infant brain: the role of body form and motion. Soc Neurosci. 2013;8(1):22-30. Doi:10.1080/17470919.2012.696077

Harada H, Nashihara H, Morozumi K, Ota H, Hatakeyama E. A comparison of cerebral activity in the prefrontal region between young adults and the elderly while driving. J Physiol Anthropol. 2007;26(3):409-414. Doi:10.2114/jpa2.26.409

Harada T, Miyai I, Suzuki M, Kubota K. Gait capacity affects cortical activation patterns related to speed control in the elderly. Exp Brain Res. 2009;193(3):445-454. Doi:10.1007/s00221-008-1643-y

Harrison SC, Lawrence R, Hoare DJ, Wiggins IM, Hartley DEH. Use of Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy to Predict and Measure Cochlear Implant Outcomes: A Scoping Review. Brain Sci. 2021;11(11):1439. Published 2021 Oct 28. Doi:10.3390/brainsci11111439

Hawkins KA, Fox EJ, Daly JJ, et al. Prefrontal over-activation during walking in people with mobility deficits: Interpretation and functional implications. Hum Mov Sci. 2018;59:46-55. Doi:10.1016/j.humov.2018.03.010

Heinzel S, Metzger FG, Ehlis AC, et al. Age and Vascular Burden Determinants of Cortical Hemodynamics Underlying Verbal Fluency. PloS One. 2015;10(9):e0138863. Published 2015 Sep 22. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138863

Hielscher AH, Bluestone AY, Abdoulaev GS, et al. Near-infrared diffuse optical tomography. Dis Markers. 2002;18(5-6):313-337. Doi:10.1155/2002/164252

Hillman EM. Coupling mechanism and significance of the BOLD signal: a status report. *Annu Rev Neurosci*. 2014;37:161-181. Doi:10.1146/annurev-neuro-071013-014111

Hou X, Zhang Z, Zhao C, et al. NIRS-KIT: a MATLAB toolbox for both resting-state and
task fNIRS data analysis. Neurophotonics. 2021;8(1):010802.Doi:10.1117/1.NPh.8.1.010802

Hougaard A, Jensen BH, Amin FM, Rostrup E, Hoffmann MB, Ashina M. Cerebral Asymmetry of fMRI-BOLD Responses to Visual Stimulation. PloS One. 2015;10(5):e0126477. Published 2015 May 18. Doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126477

Hu Z, Liu G, Dong Q, Niu H. Applications of Resting-State fNIRS in the Developing Brain: A Review From the Connectome Perspective. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:476. Published 2020 Jun 3. Doi:10.3389/fnins.2020.00476

Hyman SL, Levy SE, Myers SM; COUNCIL ON CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES, SECTION ON DEVELOPMENTAL AND BEHAVIORAL PEDIATRICS. Identification, Evaluation, and Management of Children With Autism Spectrum Disorder. Pediatrics. 2020;145(1):e20193447. Doi:10.1542/peds.2019-3447

Jacobsen LK, Gore JC, Skudlarski P, Lacadie CM, Jatlow P, Krystal JH. Impact of intravenous nicotine on BOLD signal response to photic stimulation. Magn Reson Imaging. 2002;20(2):141-145. doi:10.1016/s0730-725x(02)00494-0

Jonas J, Frismand S, Vignal JP, et al. Right hemispheric dominance of visual phenomena evoked by intracerebral stimulation of the human visual cortex. Hum Brain Mapp. 2014;35(7):3360-3371. Doi:10.1002/hbm.22407

Jones EJ, Gliga T, Bedford R, Charman T, Johnson MH. Developmental pathways to autism: a review of prospective studies of infants at risk. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2014;39(100):1-33. Doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.12.001

Kabdebon C, Leroy F, Simmonet H, Perrot M, Dubois J, Dehaene-Lambertz G. Anatomical correlations of the international 10-20 sensor placement system in infants. Neuroimage. 2014;99:342-356. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.05.046

Kaga Y, Ueda R, Tanaka M, et al. Executive dysfunction in medication-naïve children with ADHD: A multi-modal fNIRS and EEG study. Brain Dev. 2020;42(8):555-563. Doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2020.05.007

Kalpouzos G, Chételat G, Baron JC, et al. Voxel-based mapping of brain gray matter volume and glucose metabolism profiles in normal aging. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30(1):112-124. Doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.05.019

Kassab, Amal & Le Lan, Jerome & Vannasing, Phetsamone & Sawan, Mohamad. (2015). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy caps for brain activity monitoring: A review. Applied Optics. 54. 576-586. 10.1364/AO.54.000576.

Kato H, Izumiyama M, Koizumi H, Takahashi A, Itoyama Y. Near-infrared spectroscopic topography as a tool to monitor motor reorganization after hemiparetic stroke: a comparison with functional MRI. Stroke. 2002;33(8):2032-2036. Doi:10.1161/01.str.0000021903.52901.97

Kawai N, Nakata R, Kubo-Kawai N. Older adults exhibit greater brain activity than young adults in a selective inhibition task by bipedal and bimanual responses: an fNIRS study. Neuroreport. 2020;31(14):1048-1053. Doi:10.1097/WNR.000000000001516

Kern JK, Trivedi MH, Grannemann BD, et al. Sensory correlations in autism. Autism. 2007;11(2):123-134. Doi:10.1177/1362361307075702

Kimmig AS, Dresler T, Hudak J, et al. Feasibility of NIRS-based neurofeedback training in social anxiety disorder: behavioral and neural correlates. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2019;126(9):1175-1185. Doi:10.1007/s00702-018-1954-5

Kita Y, Gunji A, Inoue Y, et al. Self-face recognition in children with autism spectrum disorders: a near-infrared spectroscopy study. Brain Dev. 2011;33(6):494-503. Doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2010.11.007

Koh PH, Elwell CE, Delpy DT. Development of a dynamic test phantom for optical topography. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2009;645:141-146. Doi:10.1007/978-0-387-85998-9_22

Kohl SH, Mehler DMA, Lührs M, Thibault RT, Konrad K, Sorger B. The Potential of Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy-Based Neurofeedback-A Systematic Review and Recommendations for Best Practice [published correction appears in Front Neurosci. 2022 Aug 22;16:907941]. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:594. Published 2020 Jul 21. Doi:10.3389/fnins.2020.00594

Kopf J, Glöckner S, Althen H, et al. Neural Responses to a Working Memory Task in Acute Depressed and Remitted Phases in Bipolar Patients. Brain Sci. 2023;13(5):744. Published 2023 Apr 29. Doi:10.3390/brainsci13050744

Kruppa JA, Reindl V, Gerloff C, et al. Brain and motor synchrony in children and adolescents with ASD-a fNIRS hyperscanning study. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2021;16(1-2):103-116. Doi:10.1093/scan/nsaa092

Kumar V, Shivakumar V, Chhabra H, Bose A, Venkatasubramanian G, Gangadhar BN. Functional near infra-red spectroscopy (fNIRS) in schizophrenia: A review. Asian J Psychiatr. 2017;27:18-31. Doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2017.02.009

Kusaka T, Kawada K, Okubo K, et al. Noninvasive optical imaging in the visual cortex in young infants. Hum Brain Mapp. 2004;22(2):122-132. doi:10.1002/hbm.20020

Kuwabara H, Kasai K, Takizawa R, et al. Decreased prefrontal activation during letter fluency task in adults with pervasive developmental disorders: a near-infrared spectroscopy study. Behav Brain Res. 2006;172(2):272-277. Doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2006.05.020

Ishii-Takahashi A, Takizawa R, Nishimura Y, et al. Prefrontal activation during inhibitory control measured by near-infrared spectroscopy for differentiating between autism spectrum disorders and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in adults. Neuroimage Clin. 2013;4:53-63. Published 2013 Oct 26. Doi:10.1016/j.nicl.2013.10.002

Issard C, Gervain J. Variability of the hemodynamic response in infants: Influence of experimental design and stimulus complexity. Dev Cogn Neurosci. 2018;33:182-193. Doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2018.01.009

Laguë-Beauvais M, Brunet J, Gagnon L, Lesage F, Bherer L. A fNIRS investigation of switching and inhibition during the modified Stroop task in younger and older adults. Neuroimage. 2013;64:485-495. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.09.042

LeBlanc JJ, DeGregorio G, Centofante E, et al. Visual evoked potentials detect cortical processing deficits in Rett syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2015;78(5):775-786. Doi:10.1002/ana.24513

Lee AW, Ventola P, Budimirovic D, Berry-Kravis E, Visootsak J. Clinical Development of Targeted Fragile X Syndrome Treatments: An Industry Perspective. Brain Sci. 2018;8(12):214. Published 2018 Dec 5. Doi:10.3390/brainsci8120214

Leff DR, Orihuela-Espina F, Elwell CE, et al. Assessment of the cerebral cortex during motor task behaviours in adults: a systematic review of functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) studies. Neuroimage. 2011;54(4):2922-2936. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.10.058

Lehto, J.E., Juujärvi, P., Kooistra, L. and Pulkkinen, L. (2003), Dimensions of executive functioning: Evidence from children. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 21: 59-80. <u>https://doi</u>.org/10.1348/026151003321164627

Li HJ, Hou XH, Liu HH, Yue CL, Lu GM, Zuo XN. Putting age-related task activation into large-scale brain networks: A meta-analysis of 114 fMRI studies on healthy aging. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2015;57:156-174. Doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.08.013

Li Y, Grabell AS, Wakschlag LS, Huppert TJ, Perlman SB. The neural substrates of cognitive flexibility are related to individual differences in preschool irritability: A fNIRS investigation. Dev Cogn Neurosci. 2017;25:138-144. Doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2016.07.002

Lin CC, Barker JW, Sparto PJ, Furman JM, Huppert TJ. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) brain imaging of multi-sensory integration during computerized dynamic posturography in middle-aged and older adults [published correction appears in Exp Brain Res. 2018 Feb 8;:]. Exp Brain Res. 2017;235(4):1247-1256. Doi:10.1007/s00221-017-4893-8

Lloyd-Fox S, Blasi A, Elwell CE. Illuminating the developing brain: the past, present and future of functional near infrared spectroscopy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*. 2010;34(3):269-284. Doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.07.008

Lloyd-Fox S, Blasi A, Everdell N, Elwell CE, Johnson MH. Selective cortical mapping of biological motion processing in young infants. J Cogn Neurosci. 2011;23(9):2521-2532. Doi:10.1162/jocn.2010.21598

Lloyd-Fox S, Blasi A, Elwell CE, Charman T, Murphy D, Johnson MH. Reduced neural sensitivity to social stimuli in infants at risk for autism [published correction appears in Proc Biol Sci. 2016 Mar 16;283(1826):20160260]. Proc Biol Sci. 2013;280(1758):20123026. Published 2013 Mar 13. Doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.3026

Lloyd-Fox S, Begus K, Halliday D, et al. Cortical 100pecialization to social stimuli from the first days to the second year of life: A rural Gambian cohort. Dev Cogn Neurosci. 2017;25:92-104. Doi:10.1016/j.dcn.2016.11.00

Lloyd-Fox S, Blasi A, Pasco G, et al. Cortical responses before 6 months of life associate with later autism. Eur J Neurosci. 2018;47(6):736-749. Doi:10.1111/ejn.13757

Logothetis NK, Wandell BA. Interpreting the BOLD signal. *Annu Rev Physiol*. 2004;66:735-769. Doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.66.082602.092845

Lockwood Estrin G, Milner V, Spain D, Happé F, Colvert E. Barriers to Autism Spectrum Disorder Diagnosis for Young Women and Girls: a Systematic Review. Rev J Autism Dev Disord. 2021;8(4):454-470. Doi:10.1007/s40489-020-00225-8

Lord, C.; Rutter, M.; DiLavore, P.C.; Risi, S. Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule–Generic; PsycTESTS Dataset: Lawrence, KS, USA, 2016.

Lu CM, Zhang YJ, Biswal BB, Zang YF, Peng DL, Zhu CZ. Use of fNIRS to assess resting state functional connectivity. J Neurosci Methods. 2010;186(2):242-249. Doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.11.010

Luck, S.J., 2005. An Introduction to the Event-related Potential Technique. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

Lundqvist LO, Lindner H. Is the Autism-Spectrum Quotient a Valid Measure of Traits Associated with the Autism Spectrum? A Rasch Validation in Adults with and Without Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. 2017;47(7):2080-2091. doi:10.1007/s10803-017-3128-y

Maki PM, Resnick SM. Effects of estrogen on patterns of brain activity at rest and during cognitive activity: a review of neuroimaging studies. Neuroimage. 2001;14(4):789-801. doi:10.1006/nimg.2001.0887

Marcar VL, Loenneker T, Strassle AE, Schwarz U, Martin E. What effect does measuring children under anesthesia have on the blood oxygenation level-dependent signal? A functional magnetic resonance imaging study of visual cortex. *Pediatr Res*. 2004;56(1):104-110. Doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000130479.43442.5C

Marks RA, Eggleston RL, Sun X, et al. The neurocognitive basis of morphological processing in typical and impaired readers. Ann Dyslexia. 2022;72(2):361-383. Doi:10.1007/s11881-021-00239-9

Mauri M, Nobile M, Bellina M, Crippa A, Brambilla P. Light up ADHD: I. Cortical hemodynamic responses measured by functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS): Special Section on "Translational and Neuroscience Studies in Affective Disorders" Section Editor, Maria Nobile MD, PhD. This Section of JAD focuses on the relevance of translational and neuroscience studies in providing a better understanding of the neural basis of affective disorders. The main aim is to briefly summarise relevant research findings in clinical neuroscience with particular regards to specific innovative topics in mood and anxiety disorders. *J Affect Disord*. 2018;234:358-364. Doi:10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.087

Mazziotti R, Lupori L, Sagona G, et al. Searching for biomarkers of CDKL5 disorder: early-onset visual impairment in CDKL5 mutant mice. Hum Mol Genet. 2017;26(12):2290-2298. Doi:10.1093/hmg/ddx119

Mazziotti R, Cacciante F, Sagona G, et al. Novel translational phenotypes and biomarkers for creatine transporter deficiency. Brain Commun. 2020;2(2):fcaa089. Published 2020 Jul 3. Doi:10.1093/braincomms/fcaa089

McDonald NM, Perdue KL. The infant brain in the social world: Moving toward interactive social neuroscience with functional near-infrared spectroscopy. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2018;87:38-49. Doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.01.007

Mehnert J, Akhrif A, Telkemeyer S, et al. Developmental changes in brain activation and functional connectivity during response inhibition in the early childhood brain. Brain Dev. 2013;35(10):894-904. Doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2012.11.006

Minagawa-Kawai Y, Mori K, Hebden JC, Dupoux E. Optical imaging of infants' neurocognitive development: recent advances and perspectives. Dev Neurobiol. 2008;68(6):712-728. Doi:10.1002/dneu.20618

Minagawa-Kawai Y, Matsuoka S, Dan I, Naoi N, Nakamura K, Kojima S. Prefrontal activation associated with social attachment: facial-emotion recognition in mothers and infants [published correction appears in Cereb Cortex. 2009 Apr;19(4):992]. *Cereb Cortex*. 2009;19(2):284-292. Doi:10.1093/cercor/bhn081

Monchi O, Petrides M, Petre V, Worsley K, Dagher A. Wisconsin Card Sorting revisited: distinct neural circuits participating in different stages of the task identified by event-related functional magnetic resonance imaging. J Neurosci. 2001;21(19):7733-7741. Doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-19-07733.2001

Moriguchi Y, Hiraki K. Neural origin of cognitive shifting in young children. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(14):6017-6021. Doi:10.1073/pnas.0809747106

Morishita T, Higuchi MA, Saita K, Tsuboi Y, Abe H, Inoue T. Changes in Motor-Related Cortical Activity Following Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease Detected by Functional Near Infrared Spectroscopy: A Pilot Study. Front Hum Neurosci. 2016;10:629. Published 2016 Dec 12. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00629

Mukli P, Nagy Z, Racz FS, Herman P, Eke A. Impact of Healthy Aging on Multifractal Hemodynamic Fluctuations in the Human Prefrontal Cortex. Front Physiol. 2018;9:1072. Published 2018 Aug 10. Doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.01072

Nakadoi Y, Sumitani S, Watanabe Y, Akiyama M, Yamashita N, Ohmori T. Multi-channel near-infrared spectroscopy shows reduced activation in the prefrontal cortex during facial expression processing in pervasive developmental disorder. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. 2012;66(1):26-33. Doi:10.1111/j.1440-1819.2011.02290.x

Nakato E, Otsuka Y, Kanazawa S, Yamaguchi MK, Kakigi R. Distinct differences in the pattern of hemodynamic response to happy and angry facial expressions in infants—a near-infrared spectroscopic study. Neuroimage. 2011;54(2):1600-1606. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.09.021

Negoro H, Sawada M, Iida J, Ota T, Tanaka S, Kishimoto T. Prefrontal dysfunction in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder as measured by near-infrared spectroscopy. Child Psychiatry Hum Dev. 2010;41(2):193-203. Doi:10.1007/s10578-009-0160-y

Neuhaus E, Lowry SJ, Santhosh M, Kresse A, Edwards LA, Keller J, Libsack EJ, Kang VY, Naples A, Jack A, Jeste S, McPartland JC, Aylward E, Bernier R, Bookheimer S, Dapretto M, Van Horn JD, Pelphrey K, Webb SJ; The ACE GENDAAR Network. Resting state EEG in youth with ASD: age, sex, and relation to phenotype. J Neurodev Disord. 2021 Sep 13;13(1):33. doi: 10.1186/s11689-021-09390-1.

Nicklin SE, Hassan IA, Wickramasinghe YA, Spencer SA. The light still shines, but not that brightly? The current status of perinatal near infrared spectroscopy. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2003;88(4):F263-F268. Doi:10.1136/fn.88.4.f263

Nishimura Y, Tanii H, Hara N, et al. Relationship between the prefrontal function during a cognitive task and the severity of the symptoms in patients with panic disorder: a multi-channel NIRS study. Psychiatry Res. 2009;172(2):168-172. Doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009.01.001

Noel JP, Zhang LQ, Stocker AA, Angelaki DE. Individuals with autism spectrum disorder have altered visual encoding capacity. PloS Biol. 2021;19(5):e3001215. Published 2021 May 12. Doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.3001215

Okada E, Firbank M, Schweiger M, Arridge SR, Cope M, Delpy DT. Theoretical and experimental investigation of near-infrared light propagation in a model of the adult head. Appl Opt. 1997;36(1):21-31. Doi:10.1364/ao.36.000021

Okamoto M, Dan H, Sakamoto K, et al. Three-dimensional probabilistic anatomical cranio-cerebral correlation via the international 10-20 system oriented for transcranial functional brain mapping. Neuroimage. 2004;21(1):99-111. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.08.026

Orihuela-Espina F, Leff DR, James DR, Darzi AW, Yang GZ. Quality control and assurance in functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) experimentation. *Phys Med Biol*. 2010;55(13):3701-3724. Doi:10.1088/0031-9155/55/13/009

Ouellette J, Toussay X, Comin CH, et al. Vascular contributions to 16p11.2 deletion autism syndrome modeled in mice. Nat Neurosci. 2020;23(9):1090-1101. Doi:10.1038/s41593-020-0663-1

Peirce J, Gray JR, Simpson S, et al. PsychoPy2: Experiments in behavior made easy. Behav Res Methods. 2019;51(1):195-203. Doi:10.3758/s13428-018-01193-y

Pichler G, Cheung PY, Aziz K, Urlesberger B, Schmölzer GM. How to monitor the brain during immediate neonatal transition and resuscitation? A systematic qualitative review of the literature. Neonatology. 2014;105(3):205-210. Doi:10.1159/000357162

Plichta MM, Herrmann MJ, Baehne CG, et al. Event-related functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS): are the measurements reliable?. Neuroimage. 2006;31(1):116-124. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.008

Quaresima V, Bisconti S, Ferrari M. A brief review on the use of functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) for language imaging studies in human newborns and adults. Brain Lang. 2012;121(2):79-89. Doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2011.03.009

Raichle ME. Behind the scenes of functional brain imaging: a historical and physiological perspective. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1998;95(3):765-772. Doi:10.1073/pnas.95.3.765

Ranger M, Johnston CC, Limperopoulos C, Rennick JE, du Plessis AJ. Cerebral nearinfrared spectroscopy as a measure of nociceptive evoked activity in critically ill infants. Pain Res Manag. 2011;16(5):331-336. doi:10.1155/2011/891548

Raschle N, Zuk J, Ortiz-Mantilla S, et al. Pediatric neuroimaging in early childhood and infancy: challenges and practical guidelines. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2012;1252:43-50. Doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06457.x

Reynolds JH, Chelazzi L. Attentional modulation of visual processing. Annu Rev Neurosci. 2004;27:611-647. Doi:10.1146/annurev.neuro.26.041002.131039

Robertson CE, Baron-Cohen S. Sensory perception in autism. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2017;18(11):671-684. Doi:10.1038/nrn.2017.112

Rossi S, Telkemeyer S, Wartenburger I, Obrig H. Shedding light on words and sentences: near-infrared spectroscopy in language research. Brain Lang. 2012;121(2):152-163. Doi:10.1016/j.bandl.2011.03.008

Rubia K. Cognitive Neuroscience of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and Its Clinical Translation. *Front Hum Neurosci*. 2018;12:100. Published 2018 Mar 29. Doi:10.3389/fnhum.2018.00100

Ruocco AC, Medaglia JD, Ayaz H, Chute DL. Abnormal prefrontal cortical response during affective processing in borderline personality disorder. Psychiatry Res. 2010;182(2):117-122. Doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2010.01.011

Saby JN, Benke TA, Peters SU, et al. Multisite Study of Evoked Potentials in Rett Syndrome. Ann Neurol. 2021;89(4):790-802. Doi:10.1002/ana.26029

Saby JN, Mulcahey PJ, Zavez AE, et al. Electrophysiological biomarkers of brain function in CDKL5 deficiency disorder. Brain Commun. 2022;4(4):fcac197. Published 2022 Aug 4. Doi:10.1093/braincomms/fcac197

Sasai S, Homae F, Watanabe H, Taga G. Frequency-specific functional connectivity in the brain during resting state revealed by NIRS. Neuroimage. 2011;56(1):252-257. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.12.075

Sato Y, Mori K, Koizumi T, et al. Functional lateralization of speech processing in adults and children who stutter. Front Psychol. 2011;2:70. Published 2011 Apr 27. Doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00070

Schecklmann M, Ehlis AC, Plichta MM, Fallgatter AJ. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy: a long-term reliable tool for measuring brain activity during verbal fluency. Neuroimage. 2008;43(1):147-155. Doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.06.032

Schroeter ML, Bücheler MM, Scheid R. Circadian variability is negligible in primary visual cortices as measured by fNIRS. Int J Psychophysiol. 2006;62(1):9-13. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2005.11.003

Seymour RA, Rippon G, Gooding-Williams G, Schoffelen JM, Kessler K. Dysregulated oscillatory connectivity in the visual system in autism spectrum disorder. Brain. 2019;142(10):3294-3305. doi:10.1093/brain/awz214

Shibata M, Fuchino Y, Naoi N, et al. Broad cortical activation in response to tactilestimulationinnewborns.Neuroreport.2012;23(6):373-377.doi:10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283520296

Simmons DR, Robertson AE, McKay LS, Toal E, McAleer P, Pollick FE. Vision in autismspectrumdisorders.VisionRes.2009;49(22):2705-2739.doi:10.1016/j.visres.2009.08.005

Skelton MR, Schaefer TL, Graham DL, et al. Creatine transporter (CrT; Slc6a8) knockout mice as a model of human CrT deficiency. PLoS One. 2011;6(1):e16187. Published 2011 Jan 13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016187

Soshi T, Kuriyama K, Aritake S, et al. Sleep deprivation influences diurnal variation of human time perception with prefrontal activity change: a functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. PLoS One. 2010;5(1):e8395. Published 2010 Jan 1. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008395

Sparrow, S.S.; Cicchetti, D.; Balla, D.A. Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales, 2nd ed.; PsycTESTS Dataset: Lawrence, KS, USA, 2012

Stefanatos GA, Wasserstein J. Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder as a right hemisphere syndrome. Selective literature review and detailed neuropsychological case studies. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001;931:172-195.

Strangman G, Boas DA, Sutton JP. Non-invasive neuroimaging using near-infrared light. Biol Psychiatry. 2002;52(7):679-693. doi:10.1016/s0006-3223(02)01550-0

Strangman G, Goldstein R, Rauch SL, Stein J. Near-infrared spectroscopy and imaging for investigating stroke rehabilitation: test-retest reliability and review of the literature.

Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2006;87(12 Suppl 2):S12-S19. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.07.269

Stuart S, Belluscio V, Quinn JF, Mancini M. Pre-frontal Cortical Activity During Walking and Turning Is Reliable and Differentiates Across Young, Older Adults and People With Parkinson's Disease. Front Neurol. 2019;10:536. Published 2019 May 22. doi:10.3389/fneur.2019.00536

Su WC, Colacot R, Ahmed N, Nguyen T, George T, Gandjbakhche A. The use of functional near-infrared spectroscopy in tracking neurodevelopmental trajectories in infants and children with or without developmental disorders: a systematic review. Front Psychiatry. 2023;14:1210000. Published 2023 Sep 14. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1210000

Suhr JA, Chelberg MB. Use of near-infrared spectroscopy as a measure of cerebrovascular health in aging adults. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn. 2013;20(2):243-252. doi:10.1080/13825585.2012.727976

Takahashi K, Ogata S, Atsumi Y, et al. Activation of the visual cortex imaged by 24channel near-infrared spectroscopy. J Biomed Opt. 2000;5(1):93-96. doi:10.1117/1.429973

Takeda K, Gomi Y, Imai I, Shimoda N, Hiwatari M, Kato H. Shift of motor activation areas during recovery from hemiparesis after cerebral infarction: a longitudinal study with near-infrared spectroscopy. Neurosci Res. 2007;59(2):136-144. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2007.06.1466

Takizawa R, Tochigi M, Kawakubo Y, et al. Association between catechol-Omethyltrasferase Val108/158Met genotype and prefrontal hemodynamic response in schizophrenia. PLoS One. 2009;4(5):e5495. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0005495

Tamura R, Kitamura H, Endo T, Abe R, Someya T. Decreased leftward bias of prefrontal activity in autism spectrum disorder revealed by functional near-infrared spectroscopy. Psychiatry Res. 2012;203(2-3):237-240. doi:10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.12.008

Tan Q, Zhang M, Wang Y, et al. Age-related alterations in phase synchronization of oxyhemoglobin concentration changes in prefrontal tissues as measured by nearinfrared spectroscopy signals. Microvasc Res. 2016;103:19-25. doi:10.1016/j.mvr.2015.10.002

Telkemeyer S, Rossi S, Koch SP, et al. Sensitivity of newborn auditory cortex to the temporal structure of sounds. J Neurosci. 2009;29(47):14726-14733. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1246-09.2009

Tina LG, Frigiola A, Abella R, et al. Near Infrared Spectroscopy in healthy preterm and term newborns: correlation with gestational age and standard monitoring parameters. Curr Neurovasc Res. 2009;6(3):148-154. doi:10.2174/156720209788970090

Tsujii T, Yamamoto E, Masuda S, Watanabe S. Longitudinal study of spatial working memory development in young children. Neuroreport. 2009;20(8):759-763. doi:10.1097/WNR.0b013e32832aa975

Turi M, Burr DC, Binda P. Pupillometry reveals perceptual differences that are tightly linked to autistic traits in typical adults. Elife. 2018;7:e32399. Published 2018 Mar 6. doi:10.7554/eLife.32399

Uddin LQ, Supekar K, Menon V. Reconceptualizing functional brain connectivity in autism from a developmental perspective. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013;7:458. Published 2013 Aug 7. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2013.00458

Udobi KC, Kokenge AN, Hautman ER, et al. Cognitive deficits and increases in creatine precursors in a brain-specific knockout of the creatine transporter gene Slc6a8. Genes Brain Behav. 2018;17(6):e12461. doi:10.1111/gbb.12461

Ung WC, Yap KH, Ebenezer EGM, et al. Assessing Neural Compensation With Visuospatial Working Memory Load Using Near-Infrared Imaging. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng. 2020;28(1):13-22. doi:10.1109/TNSRE.2019.2956459

Valera EM, Faraone SV, Murray KE, Seidman LJ. Meta-analysis of structural imaging findings in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Biol Psychiatry. 2007;61(12):1361-1369. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.06.011

Vallat R. Pingouin: Statistics in Python. J Open Source Softw. 2018;3:1026

van de Kamp JM, Mancini GM, Salomons GS. X-linked creatine transporter deficiency: clinical aspects and pathophysiology. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2014;37(5):715-733. doi:10.1007/s10545-014-9713-8

van de Rijt LP, van Opstal AJ, Mylanus EA, et al. Temporal Cortex Activation to Audiovisual Speech in Normal-Hearing and Cochlear Implant Users Measured with Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Front Hum Neurosci*. 2016;10:48. Published 2016 Feb 11. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00048

van de Rijt LPH, van Wanrooij MM, Snik AFM, Mylanus EAM, van Opstal AJ, Roye A. Measuring Cortical Activity During Auditory Processing with Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *J Hear Sci*. 2018;8(4):9-18. doi:10.17430/1003278

Van der Hallen R, Evers K, Brewaeys K, Van den Noortgate W, Wagemans J. Global processing takes time: A meta-analysis on local-global visual processing in ASD. Psychol Bull. 2015;141(3):549-573. doi:10.1037/bul0000004

Vanderwert RE, Nelson CA. The use of near-infrared spectroscopy in the study of typical and atypical development. Neuroimage. 2014;85 Pt 1(0 1):264-271. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.10.009

Vermeij A, van Beek AH, Olde Rikkert MG, Claassen JA, Kessels RP. Effects of aging on cerebral oxygenation during working-memory performance: a functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. PLoS One. 2012;7(9):e46210. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046210

Viola S, Viola P, Buongarzone MP, Fiorelli L, Mattucci F, Litterio P. New brain reperfusion rehabilitation therapy improves cognitive impairment in mild Alzheimer's disease: a prospective, controlled, open-label 12-month study with NIRS correlates. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2014;26(4):417-425. doi:10.1007/s40520-013-0185-8

Wang Q, Han Z, Hu X, et al. Autism Symptoms Modulate Interpersonal Neural Synchronization in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder in Cooperative Interactions. Brain Topogr. 2020;33(1):112-122. doi:10.1007/s10548-019-00731-x

Wang Y, Yu S, Li M. Neurovascular crosstalk and cerebrovascular alterations: an underestimated therapeutic target in autism spectrum disorders. Front Cell Neurosci. 2023;17:1226580. Published 2023 Aug 24. doi:10.3389/fncel.2023.1226580

Ward LM, Aitchison RT, Tawse M, Simmers AJ, Shahani U. Reduced Haemodynamic Response in the Ageing Visual Cortex Measured by Absolute fNIRS. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0125012. Published 2015 Apr 24. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125012

Ward LM, Morison G, Simmers AJ, Shahani U. Age-Related Changes in Global Motion Coherence: Conflicting Haemodynamic and Perceptual Responses. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):10013. Published 2018 Jul 3. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-27803-5

Watanabe E, Yamashita Y, Maki A, Ito Y, Koizumi H. Non-invasive functional mapping with multi-channel near infra-red spectroscopic topography in humans. Neurosci Lett. 1996;205(1):41-44. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(96)12376-4

Watanabe E, Maki A, Kawaguchi F, et al. Non-invasive assessment of language dominance with near-infrared spectroscopic mapping. Neurosci Lett. 1998;256(1):49-52. doi:10.1016/s0304-3940(98)00754-x

Watanabe A, Kato T. Cerebrovascular response to cognitive tasks in patients with schizophrenia measured by near-infrared spectroscopy. Schizophr Bull. 2004;30(2):435-444. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a007090

Watanabe H, Homae F, Nakano T, Taga G. Functional activation in diverse regions of the developing brain of human infants. Neuroimage. 2008;43(2):346-357. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.07.014
Wilcox T, Hawkins LB, Hirshkowitz A, Boas DA. Cortical activation to object shape and speed of motion during the first year. Neuroimage. 2014;99:129-141. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2014.04.082

Wong FY, Leung TS, Austin T, et al. Impaired autoregulation in preterm infants identified by using spatially resolved spectroscopy. Pediatrics. 2008;121(3):e604-e611. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1487

Yanagi M, Shirakawa O. Application of Near-Infrared Spectroscopy for Understanding Spontaneous Brain Activity During Resting State in Schizophrenia: A Mini Review. Front Psychiatry. 2021;12:704506. Published 2021 Aug 13. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2021.704506

Yanagisawa K, Nakamura N, Tsunashima H, Narita N. Proposal of auxiliary diagnosis index for autism spectrum disorder using near-infrared spectroscopy. Neurophotonics. 2016;3(3):031413. doi:10.1117/1.NPh.3.3.031413

Yasumura A, Kokubo N, Yamamoto H, et al. Neurobehavioral and hemodynamic evaluation of Stroop and reverse Stroop interference in children with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Brain Dev. 2014;36(2):97-106. doi:10.1016/j.braindev.2013.01.005

Yeung MK, Chan AS. Functional near-infrared spectroscopy reveals decreased resting oxygenation levels and task-related oxygenation changes in mild cognitive impairment and dementia: A systematic review. J Psychiatr Res. 2020;124:58-76. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.02.017

Yeung MK, Chan AS. A Systematic Review of the Application of Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy to the Study of Cerebral Hemodynamics in Healthy Aging. Neuropsychol Rev. 2021;31(1):139-166. doi:10.1007/s11065-020-09455-3

Yoon JA, Kong IJ, Choi I, et al. Correlation between cerebral hemodynamic functional near-infrared spectroscopy and positron emission tomography for assessing mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: An exploratory study. PLoS One. 2023;18(8):e0285013. Published 2023 Aug 10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0285013

Young H, Oreve MJ, Speranza M. Clinical characteristics and problems diagnosing autism spectrum disorder in girls. Arch Pediatr. 2018;25(6):399-403. doi:10.1016/j.arcped.2018.06.008

Zafar R, Malik AS, Kamel N, et al. Decoding of visual information from human brain activity: A review of fMRI and EEG studies. J Integr Neurosci. 2015;14(2):155-168. doi:10.1142/S0219635215500089

Zepeda A, Arias C, Sengpiel F. Optical imaging of intrinsic signals: recent developments in the methodology and its applications. J Neurosci Methods. 2004;136(1):1-21. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2004.02.025

Zhang F, Roeyers H. Exploring brain functions in autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review on functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) studies. *Int J Psychophysiol*. 2019;137:41-53. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2019.01.003

Zhang F, Moerman F, Niu H, Warreyn P, Roeyers H. Atypical brain network development of infants at elevated likelihood for autism spectrum disorder during the first year of life. Autism Res. 2022;15(12):2223-2237. doi:10.1002/aur.2827

Zhu D, Wang J, Wu H. Working memory function in Chinese dyslexic children: a nearinfrared spectroscopy study. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci. 2012;32(1):141-145. doi:10.1007/s11596-012-0025-7

Zhu H, Li J, Fan Y, Li X, Huang D, He S. Atypical prefrontal cortical responses to joint/non-joint attention in children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): A functional near-infrared spectroscopy study. Biomed Opt Express. 2015;6(3):690-701. Published 2015 Feb 3. doi:10.1364/BOE.6.000690

Zimeo Morais GA, Balardin JB, Sato JR. fNIRS Optodes' Location Decider (fOLD): a toolbox for probe arrangement guided by brain regions-of-interest. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):3341. Published 2018 Feb 20. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-21716-z

Ringraziamenti

Vorrei ringraziare tutte le persone che hanno contributo a questo lavoro e alla nascita del Laboratorio.

Un grazie speciale a Laura Baroncelli, non solo per tutte le cose che mi ha insegnato in questi anni, ma soprattutto per la generosità d'animo mostrata.

Ringrazio la Prof.ssa Battini, alla quale vanno il mio affetto e la mia incondizionata stima. Grazie a Francesco e alla mia famiglia che mi hanno supportato con amore anche in questo percorso.